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James J. Little (SBN 123373)

Trial Advocacy Group, LLC FILED

5 || 1901 Avenue of the Stars, Suite 1100 Suggng’rvc'st{n&ng?‘glggsnla }
Los Angeles, California 90067 '

3 || Telephone: (310) 882-8531 SEP 14 2017
Email: jj@jjlittlelaw.com Sherri K.,

4 xgeutive Officer/Clerk
L By. — ‘ Depuy
5 Attorneys for Judgment Creditor S den

Konstantin Khionidi, Trustee for the Cobbs Trust

6
SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA
7 : :
g FOR THE COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES
¢ BAT WORLD SANCTUARY, et al., ) Case No. BS140207
10 )
Plaintiffs ) [Assigned to the Honorable Robert Hess,
11 ) presiding, Departmént 24]
v. ) .
12 ) JUDGMENT CREDITOR’S OBJECTIONS
13 ) TO AND MOTION TO STRIKE THE
MARY CUMMINS, et al., )  PURPORTED “MOTION TO QUASH,
14 ) MODIFY SUBPOENA, PROTECTIVE
Defendants ) ORDER CCP 1987.1, MOTION FOR
15 ) SANCTIONS; MOTION TO VACATE
16 ) JUDGMENT” OF JUDGMENT DEBTOR
) MARY CUMMINS; DECLARATION OF
17 ) JAMES J. LITTLE
) - / XJ |
18 ) Date: September 017 4‘ / ’ 17
_ ) Time: 8304w, \~.Z
19 Dept.: 22 ()éA(
20 Plaintiff® Bat World Sanctuary’s assignee, Konstantin Khionidi, Trustee for the Cobbs Trust
21
(“Judgment Creditor”), hereby objects to and moves to strike the substantively and procedurally
22
’ defective “Motion to Quash, Modify Subpoena, Protective Order CCP 1987.1, Motion for Sanctions,
24 Motion Vacate Judgment” purportedly filed by Judgment Debtor Mary Cummins (the “Purported

25 || Motion™). While Judgment Creditor recognizes that Ms. Cummins is proceeding pro pé“r, she is not
2!5: entitled to commit wholesale violations of the California Code of Civil Procedure. As such, the

271 (| Purported Motion is fatally flawed and should be stricken:
2’8’_j 1
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1. Deficiencies in Ms. Cummins’ Purported Motion

Ms. Cummins’ purported “Proof of Service” is both procedurally insufficient and false.
Specifically, Ms. Cummins claims that she “served” the Purported Motion on August 21, 2017, “by

emailing, faxing this document to counsel.” That is false.

First, service must be by mail unless the parties agree in writing to accept service via
facsimile or email. (CCP §§1013(g) & 1010.6(a)(6).) Ms. Cummins does not claim that there is

such an agreement, and there is none. (Declaration of James J. Little (“Little Decl.”) at 1.)

Second, Ms. Cummins did not serve the Purported Motion on August 21, 2017, in actuality,
she only sent an email asserting that she intended to file a motion. (Little Decl. at 2 & Exhibit “2.”)

Third, counsel did not receive the Purported Mofion until Sunday, September 10, 2017.
Moreover, the Court’s docket does not reflect the purported filing or any hearing date. (Little Decl.
at 93 & Exhibit “3.”)

2. Insufficient Notice of Hearing.

Even if service had been properly made on September 10, 2017 (and it was not), the
Purported Motion would violate CCP §1005(b) since September 10, 2017, is not 16 court days

before the September 14, 2017, hearing date.

3. False Statements of Fact and Law in Purported Motion.

To the extent the Court is inclined to consider any aspect of the Purported Motion (and
Judgment Creditor respectfully submits that the Court should not), Judgment Creditor respectfully

invites the Court’s attention to the following:
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Judgment Creditor properly served Ms. Cummins with the Order scheduling her debtor’s
examination on July 28, 2017, and filed the Proof of Service with the Court. (Little Decl. at 4 &
Exhibit “4.”) That Proof of Service is presumptively valid (Evidence Code §647; Floveyor Int’l Ltd.
v. Superior Court (19975 59 Cal. App.4™ 789, 795), and Ms. Cummins offers no evidence to rebut

the presumptive validity of the Proof of Service.

Next, Ms. Cummins claims that she “cannot physically attend a hearing,” but she offers no
medical basis for that claim. Further, Ms. Cummins asserts there is “no need for a physical hearing”;
however, that is not her choice.

If Ms. Cummins defies the Court’s Order that she attend the September 18, 2017, debtor’s

examination, a bench warrant should issue to compel her attendance.

4. The Judgment Against Ms. Cummins Is Valid.

Incredibly, Ms. Cummins contends that “Plaintiff Bat World Sanctuary was denied any
claim” by the Texas courts. But the decision of the Texas Court of Appeals affirming the judgment
was registered with this Court (Little Decl. at 5 & Exhibit “5”), and Ms. Cummins has asserted no

basis to “vacate” the Texas judgment.'
5. Sanctions.

Ms. Cummins apparently seeks sanctions because prior counsel for Plaintiff Bat World
Sanctuary is “in contempt” of an Order dated November 16, 2016, requiring that certain documents
be filed under seal. Current counsel will review the file to see what further action may be necessary

to comply with the Order; however, current counsel has never filed anything in violation of the

! While claims for breach of contract and liquidated damages were reversed, the Texas Court of Appeals affirmed the
" judgment against Ms. Cummins for defamation, finding that she made her defamatory statements with actual malice.
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Order. If in the future Judgment Creditor is required to file any information obtained from Ms.

Cummins, Judgment Creditor will dutifully file any such personal information under seal.
6. Conclusion

For the reasons stated above, Judgment Creditor respectfully submits that the Court should
strike the Purported Motion and order Ms. Cummins to be present for her scheduled September 18,

2017, debtor’s examination.

Dated: September 13, 2017. | Respectfully submitted,

Trial Advocacy Group, LLC

JamesJ. Little =
Attorneys for Judgment Creditor
Konstantin Khionidi, Trustee for the

Cobbs Trust
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1 DECLARATION OF JAMES J. LITTLE

2 I, James J. Little declare:

z 1. Iam a duly licensed attorney in the State of California and counsel for Judgment Creditor

5 Konstantin Khionidi, Trustee for the Cobbs Trust (“Judgment Creditor”). I have personal

6 knowledge of the matters stated in my declaration and, if called as a witness, could

7 competently testify thereto.

’ 2. Thave properly substituted into this action as demonstrated by the Substitution of Attorney
IZ filed herein. (Attached as Exhibit “1” is a true and correct copy of the “Substitution of
1 Attorney,” which I caused to be filed with this Court on July 28, 2017.) I have at no time
12 agreed with Judgment Debtor Mary Cummiﬁs in writing or otherwise to accept service vig
B3 facsimile or email, and nor has prior counsel.

]4 3. Ms. Cummins did not serve me on August 21, 2017, via email or otherwise with a copy of
:: her purportéd “Motion To Quash, Modify Subpoena; Protective Order CCP 1987.1]
17 Motion For Sanctions; Motion To Vacate Judgment” (the “Purported Motion”). Ms,
18 Cummins merely sent me and former counsel an email advising us that she had scheduled
19 a hearing on a motion, but she did not provide a copy of any motion. (Attached as Exhibit
i(: “2” is a true and correct copy of Ms. Cummins’ August 21, 2017, email and the response
” of former counsel.)
23 4. In actuality, I did not receive a copy of the Purported Motion until Sunday, September 10,
24 2017; however, the Court’s docket reflects no filing of the Purported Motion nor any|
2 hearing date. (Attached as Exhibit “3” is a true and correct copy of the Court’s docket.)
26
27

4, 28
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5. On July 28, 2017, I caused the Proof of Service of the order to appear for a debtor’s
examination to be filed with the Court. (Attached as Exhibit “4” is a true and correct copy]
of the “Proof of Service.”)
6. A Texas appellate court has affirmed the defamation judgment against Ms. Cummins|
(Attached as Exhibit “5” is a true and correct copy of the opinion of the Texas court
affirming the judgment.) The judgment, in turn, was duly assigned to Judgment Creditor.

(Attached as Exhibit “6” is a true and correct copy of the “Acknowledgment and

Assignment of Judgment” as filed with this Court.)

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing

is true and correct. Executed this 13" day of September 2017 at Santa Monica, California.

N James J. Little

DECLARATION OF JAMES J. LITTLE 2
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SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY 0F LOS ANGELES

] cm e v MC-050

ATTORNEY OR PARTY WITHOUT ATTORNEY Nama, Siate 8ar sumbor. o3 ecdress) AR COU: e
- Eamon Jafari (CBN 204953) R COURT UsE on }
Barrington Legal, Inc. i
11601 Wilshire Blvd., Suite 500 !
Los Aageles, CA 90025 :
reemron no] (310) 2318755 casuo cmner (800) 376-9719 C%'gfg'mﬂfg‘&%w §
€t A00RESS rossner| Jafari@barringtonlegal.com Superior Court of Californle |
Amiorevsor wemer! Konstantin Khionidi, Trustee for the Cobbs Trust gounty of Los Anaales :
: ]

quggymgagu;‘j l 1 N Hi 1 StTCCt JUL 28 2017 ;
MAHING ADDRESS:! . o . i
oy a0 2 cooe: | LOS Argeles, CA 90012 Sherd R. Gaguer, < Olm‘/ﬂ"i’*
asancrvane: | Central By: . , Bapuly
CASE NAME: WMoges Sofn
Bat World et al.iv. Mary Cummins ot al.
SUBSTITUTION OF ATTORNEY—CIVIL CASE MUMBER.
{Without Court Order) 85140207

THE COURT AND /}'LL PARTIES ARE NOTIFIED THAT fname):
1. Former legal representative
2. New lagal ropregentative
a. Name: Jamesi J. Little
c. Address (numper, street, city, 2IP, and law firm name,

makes the foilowing substitution:
Panty represented self Attorney (name): Eamon Jafari
Party is representing seif* Aftorney
b. State Bar No. (if appiicadle): 123373
if applicabls):
215 Culver :Boulevard, Suitc 3008, Playa del Rey. CA 90293

d. Tetephone No.:(include area cude): (3 10) 882-8531
3. The party makingithis substitution is g plaintift
Assignee of Judgment Creditor, Amanda Lollar

defendant petitioner respondent [ v ] other (specify):

1

"NOTICE TO PARTIES APPLYING TO REPRESENT THEMSELVES ‘

§
. Q‘uardlan * Personal Representativs * Guardian ad litem ;
- Conservator * Probate fiduciary - Unincorporatsd

* Trustee * Corporation associatlon

i
it you arg applying as one of the parties on this iist, you may NOT act as your own attornay in most cases. Usa thig form
to substituto ong attorney far another attorney. SEEK LEGAL ADVICE BEFORE APPLYING TO REPRESENT YOURSELF.

- :

1
3
i
1
Y
i

A party representing himself or herself may wish to sesk tegal assistance. Fallure to tako

Hr'[\ely and appropriate action in this casa may result in serious lagal consequences,

NOTICE TO PARTIES WITHOUT ATTORNEYS i
!
|

4. | consent to this sufbslilution.
Date.

Konstantin Khionidi, Trustee for the Cobbs Trust

| (TYAE OR PRINT KauE)

b

Y = /‘1,//( oz ;,’_/.6

A """‘;ﬁcmmns OF PARTY}

~
ISIGHAIURE GF S0AMED ATIORNEY)

571 icarsent to: 1hig substitution,
Date: 7/ (" {1
Eamon Jafari

{{1v5€ OR paNT NAME)

6.7 lcoqsem 1 this substitulion. ) e e —
Date: VAN K’\ ,/"""‘J“T (T { v Y
James J. Lintle “ b Lasne s — {\ (>
}[ TYSE O/ PRINT NAME) - \; (S'GNATIRE :*.g D\EW Arrﬁaush =

(See reverse for pioof of service by mail)

Form Adopten For \Usicatony ac
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PROOF OF SERVICE

!
i
!

STATE OF CALIFORNIA; COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES) ss.

I am over the age of 18 and a citizen of the United States. My business address and
telephone number are Trial Advocacy Group, LLC, 1901 Avenue of the Stars, Suite 1100, Los
Angeles, Callforma 90067, telephone (310) 882-8531.

On July 28,2017, I caused the accompanying Substitution of Attorney to be served on:

Mary Cummms
645 West 9" Street, Suite 110-140
Los Angeles California 90015

Christig.n S. Molinar
12400 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 1180
Los Angeles, California 90025

[ 1 BY FiACSIMILE as follows: By causing true and correct copies of the foregoing
documents to b’e transmitted via facsimile to the above party at the foregoing fax number.

[ ] BY FEDERAL EXPRESS/PRIORITY OVERNIGHT: By causing the foregoing
documents to be sent via FEDEX for next-day delivery to the foregoing address.

0

[ X ] BYU.S. MAIL as follows: By causing the foregoing documents (1) to be placed in
sealed envelopes with proper postage thereon and (2) deposited in a mail depository maintained by
the United States Postal Service on the date indicated above.

[ ] BY PI;RSONAL SERVICE: By causing the foregoing documents to be personally served.
[ ] BY ELfECTRONIC SERVICE: By causing the foregoing to be electronically served.

[ declare under penalty of pe {ury under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing

is true and correct Executed this 28" day of Jul County, California, by:
John H. Feintsg\
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Linda Silverthorn
From: Peter Hoffman
Sent: Wednesday, September 13, 2017 2:39 PM
To: Linda Silverthorn
Subject: FW: BS140207 - Motion to Quash - September 14, 2017 - 8:30 a.m. Dept 24
|
Print

From: JJ Little <jj@jjlittlelaw.com>

Date: Tuesday, September 12, 2017 at 9:47 AM
To: Peter Hoffman <peter@7artsent.com>
Subject: Fwd: B$140207 - Motion to Quash - September 14, 2017 - 8:30 a.m. Dept 24

FY1

Sent from my iPad

Begin forwarded message:

|:§1
[P

141
A

I ¥

From: Edward Bass <bassfilm@gmail.com>

Date: August 21, 2017 at 8:03:30 PM PDT

To: "J.J. Little" <jj@jjlittlelaw.com>

Subject: Fwd: Fw: BS140207 - Motion to Quash - September 14, 2017 - 8:30 a.m. Dept 24

---------- Forwarded message ---------

From: K. Kenneth Kotler <kotler@kenkotler.com>

Date: Mon, Aug 21, 2017 at 8:02 PM

Subject: Fw: BS140207 - Motion to Quash - September 14, 2017 - 8:30 a.m. Dept 24
To: Edward Bass <bassfilm@gmail.com>

Let me know if counsel anything from me. | have not seen any motion as yet

Sent from my BlackBerry 10 smartphone on the Verizon Wireless 4G LTE network.

From: Mary Cummins <mmmarycummins@gmail.com>
Sent: Monday, August 21, 2017 7:51 PM

To: JJ@jjlittlelaw.com; K. Kenneth Kotler; Christian S. Molnar; Cobb Trust; contact@barringtontegal.com
Subject: BS140207 - Motion to Quash - September 14, 2017 - 8:30 a.m. Dept 24

I am sending this notice of hearing on motion to quash order to appear for examination allegedly
filed May 10, 2017 to the lawyers who were the lawyers of record when this order was allegedly
filed and then served upon me. I'm also sending it to the current lawyers, parties of record. The
order does not exist at lacourt.org. 1 was not served with anything. 1 will not be appearing at that
hearing. I scheduled this hearing before the alleged order to appear date of September 18, 2017.




I'm also filing motion for contempt of the court order to remove the bank account number from
the filing or seal it. That never happened. I will again request sanctions. I will be filing motion
for sanctions for forging service, not giving notice and unclean hands.

I know the real person holding the judgment is Alya Michelson the Russian arranged wife of
Gary Michelson. Below Alya told her friends that she has the judgment and will use it to harass
and harm me.

As all parties know I have no assets. I'm disabled and on Medi-cal insurance. [ don't own a car. I
have no job. I have stated this under oath in writing many times. I have answered all requests for
post judgment discovery from the original party. Plaintiff Lollar assigned the judgment to Alya.
Alya does not have the right to any discovery as she is not the original holder of the judgment.
Even then the Court has allowed me to appear for hearings by phone.

I will promise all of you as long as this unjust judgment remains [ will never have any disposable
income. I filed all exemptions and Plaintiff did not fight any of them except one bank account. I

will not have a bank account as long as this judgment stands. I can't work anyway because of my
back.

And again, the case is in appeal. I petitioned to the Supreme Court of Texas and they granted my
motion to move the case to a different district. The Judge who signed the order did not sign and
file an oath of office. He had no jurisdiction over the case as a motion to recuse was out when he
signed it. He died soon after the trial as he was 86 years old and senile. He was substituted in at
the last minute to "game the system.”

RESERVATION INFORMATION

Reservation 1D: 170821244636

Case Number: BS140207

Case Title: BAT WORLD SANCTUARY ET AL VS MARY CUMMINS
Party: CUMMINS MARY (Defendant & Defendant in Pro Per)
Courthouse: Stanley Mosk Courthouse

Department: 24

Click here to view the Courtroom Information.

Reservation Type: Motion to Quash

Date: 9/14/2017

Time: 08:30 am

1 only found out about this order as your client sent this to the media who posted it online.

"In May 2017 investigators finally located Mary Cummins and served her with an Order to
Produce Statement of Assets and to Appear for Examination. She has been ordered to appear in
California Debtor’s Court at 1:30 p.m. on September 18, 2017 where she will be grilled under
oath about everything she owns, her income, assets, vehicles, expenditures, monthly living
expenses, inheritance, trust funds, and all bank accounts she has access to. Her assets will be
seized shortly thereafter. One of the troll’s Russian victims recently joined Amanda’s collection
team and has hired one of California’s top collection attorneys to enforce the judgment. The only
way the troll can avoid Debtor’s Court or the seizure of her assets is to pay the entire judgment.
She cannot avoid Debtor’s Court by filing bankruptcy since she was found guilty of committing

%! intentional torts which cannot be discharged in bankruptcy. Also, there is no way for Cummins
,f:‘.. to wiggle out of owing the entire judgment since it was upheld by the Supreme Court of Texas,
1 the court of last resort. The cyber-troll’s day of reckoning is rapidly approaching."
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For the eyes of lawyers directly involved in this case only. Not to be posted on the internet or

shared in any other way.

cc: Gary Michelson

Mary Cummins
(3101 877-4770

www edwardbassfilms.com
Tribeca office(All Mail)

79 White Street 1W -

New York, NY 10013

58 Avenue Montaigne
75008 Paris

3109854101 U.S.

44 207 07 84 224 London
33172813500 Paris

310 362 8769 FAX
41767855461 Gstaad, Switzerland
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Search
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CASE SUMMARY

Pldase make a note of the Cds

Cliek here to-access docy

If this link fails, you may go ¢

on'this page.

Case Number: BS140207

BAT WORLD SANCTUARY

Filing Date: 11/06/2012

Case Type: Sister State judgn

Status: Other Judgment

Future Hearings !

09/18/2017 at 01:30 pm i De
Judgment Debtor Examination

Parties

BAT WORLD SANCTUARY ;- Pla

mey

ET ALVS MARY CUMMINS

e Number,

t images for this case.

the Case Document Images site and search using the case number displayed

1/09/2012

CHRISTIAN S, MOLNAR LAW C

CUMMINS MARY - Defend

EVANNS COLLECTION LAWY FNJ

JAFARI EAMON ESQ: - Forf
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911212017 , Case Summary - Online Services - LA Court .
TTITUR ISS

08/28/2017 Remittitur (REM| UED ON8/23717)
Fi!ed by Clerk

07/28/2017 Proof of Service
Filed by Attorney for Deft/Respnt

i
07727/2017 Substitutior of Attorney
Filed by Attorney for Deft/Respnt

07/06/2017 Substitution of Attosney
Filed by Attorriey for Pltf/Petnr

06/23/2017 Substitution| of Attorney
Filed by Attorney for Assignee ;

05/10/2017 Order to Appearifar Examination
Filed by Attorney for Pla|ntiff/Petitioner

04;/10/2017‘Misce|laneo Js~_0fher (ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF ASSIGNMENT OF JUDGMENT )
Filed by Attorney for Assignee

12/16/2016 Order-Court Fee{Waiver
Filed by Clerk

12/14/2016 Request-Waijve Court Fees
Filed by Appellant

12/13/2016 Notice (OF DEFAULT ON APPEAL )
Filed by Clerk

12/13/2016 Reply/Response
Filed by Attorney for Plaintiff/Petitioner

12/07/2016 Opposition Document (to m/quash )
Filed by Attorney for Pitf, iPet: r.

11/14/2016 Notice of D,eéign tior of Record
Filed by Appeliant, Appellant jn:Pro Per

11/08/2016 Proof of Service
Flied by Appellant

11/01/2016 Notice of Appeal
Filed by Appellant

11/01/2016 Request-Waive Court Fees
Filed by Appellant

10/17/2016 Opposition Docuinent’
Filed by Attorney for Plaintiff/Petitioner

08/12/2016 Opposition Documeént (of pif to mtnto quash )
Filed by Artorney for Plaintff/Petitioner

04/27/2016 Opposition Document
Filed by Attorney for Plaintiff/Petitioner

04/06/2016 Substitution of Attorney (for Plaintiff Bat World Sanctuary )
Filed by Attorney for Plaintiff/Petitioner

04/06/2016 Opposition Document {Plaintiff Amanda Lollar's Opposition to Defendant Cummins' Motion to
Quash, Modify Subpoena; Protective Order )
Filed by Attorney for Plaintiff/Petitioner

-

04/06/2016 Substitution of Attorney-(for Plaintiff Amanda Lollar )
Filed by Attorney for Plaintiff/ etitianer

02/19/2016 Moation to Quash
Filed by Defendant & Defendantin. Pro Per

12/3172015 Remittitur (REM
Filed by Clerk

TTITUR ISSUED ON 12/9/15)

Click on any of the below |ink($) to s¢e documents fited on or before the date indicated:
TOP' 01/08/2015 |

01/08/2015 Miscellaneous-Other (CLERK'S CERTIFICATION OF RECORD ON APPEAL )
Filed by Clerk

[
[ 12/0f1/2014 Ntc to Prty re fee Glk's Transcpt
- . Filed by Clerk !

"1 10/17/2014 Notice of Designation of Record
|;1 Filed by Appellant, Appellant in Pro Per
e
e
hitp/www.I3durt.org/casesummary/ui/casesummary.aspx?
3
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08/08/2013 Declaration
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Filed by Attorney for Pitf;
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JAMES J. LITTLE (CBN 123373)
Trial Advocacy Group, LLC

1901 Avenue of the Stars, Suite 1100
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Tel:  (310) 882-8531

Email: jj@jjlittlelaw.com
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Plaintiffs,
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MARY CUMMINS,
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Cummins v. Bat World Sanctuary, Not Reported in 5.W.3d (2015)

2015 WL 1641144
Only the Westlaw citation is currently available.

SEE TX R RAP RULE 47.2 FOR
DESIGNATION AND SIGNING OF OPINIONS.

Court of Appeals of Texas,
Fort Worth.
. .
Mary Cummins, Appellant
v,

Bat World Sanctuary and Amanda Lellar, Appellees

NO. 02-12-00285-CV
|-
DELIVERED: April 9, 2015
|
Rehearing Overruled April 30, 2015

Synopsis :

Bgckground: President of nonprofit that operated caplive
bat colony and nonprofit filed suit against former intern,
assefling claims for defamation and breach of contract.
Following bench. trial; the 352nd District Court, Tarrant
County, entered judgment,for president on claims for
defamaiion and for nonprofit on claim for breach of
coBityact, awarded actual and cxemplary damages for
defamation, liquidated damages for breach of coniract,
and atroriey fees. Intern appealed.

Holdings: The Court of Appeals held that:

{1} président was not “limited puzpose public figure,” for
purpases of defamation claims;

[2] defamatory statements were presumed false, and

- president did. not have burden to prove that they were

false;
[3] defamatory statements posted on social media website
did not fall within scope of privilege for statements made

to government agenvies,

[4] comments sbout president were defamatory per se;

[S) evidence supported finding that defamatory statements
iyere false;

[FA 0
s

{6] mtern acted with actual malice, as required to support
award of exemplary damages;

(7] akhough permanent injunction requiting intern to
remove from designated interngt websites defamatory
camments about president that irial court had found to
be defamatory was not unconstitutional prior restraint on
speech. mtern could not be enjoined from ‘making future
defamatory comments:

[8] evidence did not show that intem breached coniruct
with nonprofit by posting photographs she had taken and
videos that she recorded while at facility;

[9) nonprofit was not catitled to §10,000 in liquidated
damages; and

[10} evidence did not support finding that nenprofit
suffered $10,000 in damages for alleged breach of
contract.

Affirmed in pari and reversed in part.

West Headnotes {283

1] Libe] and Slander
e Criticism and Comment on Pablic

Maxters; Putlic Figures

President of nonprofit that operated bat
sanctuary was not “lmited purpese public
figure,” for purposes of defamation claims
against former intem; nymerous books and
articles that president wrote about care and
treaiment of bats did not show that president
was subject of local and statewide debate ot
that, by writing material, she played role in or
inserted herself into public controversy aboui
treating bats with rabies or bats with White
Nose Syndrome.

Cases that cite this headnete

2] Libel and Slander
4= Presumiptions and Burden of Proof

On claums for defamation by president of
nonprofit. that operated but colony for care
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wnd treatient of bais against former iatern,
defamatory statements were presumed false,
and president did not have burden to prove
that they were false, even if they related 1o
matlers of public concern,

I Cases thal cite this headnote

Libel and Slandér

as Absolute Privilege
Libel and Slandcr

i~ Discharge of duty 1o public

Defamatory staiements made by former
intern of nonprofit that operated bat colony
for care and treatment of bats did not fal
within seope of privilege for statewents made
to government agencies. where defamatory
stateibents made online were not made to
government agencies.

Cases tha cite this headdote

Libel und Slander

#n Request or provecation by person
injurcd

Defamatory comments added by former
imern of nonprofit that operated bat
sancinary to video that showed nonprofit's
president performing episiotomy on pregmant
bat in lubor were not privileged based on
intern's claim that president granted her
permission 10 show video: sssuming that
inter had permission to post video, she
did not have permission to add captions o
video containing false defamalory comments
accusing president of animal cruelty, or to edit
video to remove portion showing president
administering pain medication. io order to
mischuracierize what video depicted.

{uses that cite thils headnote

Libel and Slander

&= Weight and Sufficiency

Tvidence was sufficient to show thal ten
defamatory comments by former intern of
nonprofit that operated colony for care and
treatment of baws were directed specifically at

Cufnpains v, Bat World Sanctusry, Not Reported in §.W.3d (2015)

16l

g

page 2

president of nonprofit, as required to support

claims for defamation; exhibit that was nearly
100 pages long consisted of hard copies of
intern's postibgs about president on various
social media sites and animal advocacy
website, in which she made comments about
president’s suit against intern and accusing her
of neglect of her dogs. and when taken in
context, it was clear whom intern, was accusing
of neglect.

Cases that cite this headnote

Libel and Slander

#+ Words Tending 1o Injure in Profession or
Business

Statements made on social media wnd
animal advocacy websiies by former intern
of noaprofit that operated bat sanctuary,
concerning president's alleged neglect of her
pet dogs, were defamatory per se, including
statements that president, rather than treat
dog's periodontitis. allowed condition to
worsen to point that dog could not eat
and had to be cuthanized, and that another
dog had to drag iwelf with its front
paws and that its nails were so loug it
could not stand; although intern claimed
that she was mercly asserting opinion
that president commitied  animal cruelty,.
statements were Set out as atfirmative facts,
statements were directed at president, who
was wikilife vehabilitaror and conservationtst,
statements disparaged president’s character
and reputation, and statements ascribed
to president characteristics that adversely
affected her {itness for proper conduet of her
lawful profession.

Cases that cite thus headnote

Libel and Stander

#~ Weight and Sufficicncy

Evidence supported finding that onling
defamatory statements made by fornmer intern
of nonprofit that operated bat sanctuary,
regarding president's alleged neglect of her
pet dogs, were false. incinding statemenis
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that president, rather than treat dog's

periadontitis, dllowed condition to worsen
to point that dog could not cat and
had 10 be guthanized, and that other dog
pad 1o d&rag itself with its {rent paws
aud that its pails were so long it could
not stand; only intern’s testimony. -which
was refuted by lestimotiy of veterinatians,
supported ciaim about dog having to drag
iiszlf by its front paws, president testified
that one of dogs was too old (o undergo
treatment for periodontitis, veterinarian's
testimony cotroborated president’s testimony,
and sanctuary volunteer testified that the dogs
werenot oo thin or averweight, did not have:
overgrown claws, and that dog that allegedly
dragged itsclf actually watked and ran.

Cases that cite this headnote

Libel and Slander

iw= Words Tendiug 1o Injurc in Profession or
Business

Statements madg, by former iatern of
nonprofit that operated but sanctoary,
atleging that nonprofit's president commitied
cruelty to bats, were défamutory per se, in
that they injured president's reputation in
her profession as bat rehabilitator aud as
experi in bat care; intern's statements included.
that president’s method of cuthanizing bats
wes tnhumane, illegal, and unsafe, and that
president was performing surgery on bats
without veterinary livense, ard intern also
posted comments on video showing president
performing episiotomy on pregnant bhat in
Jabor. suigesting that president cominitted
errors causing mother and baby bat to die.

Cuses that cite this headnote

Libel and Stander ¥
= Weight and Sufficiency

Evidence supported finding as o falsity .

of defamatory statements miade on social
mediz and animal advocacy websiics. by

- former intern for nonprofit that operated

bat- sanctuary, namely that president's

WUOWESTLAN e e o Lo
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ry, Not Reported in S.W.3d(

Z015)

{10}

[13]]

page 3

method of euthanizing bats was. inhumane,
illegal, and unsafe, as well as comments
intern added to video showing president
performing episiolomy on pregnant bat in
labor suggesting that president committed
errors ‘that caused mother aml baby bat
to die; intern admitted that she did not
know how president obtained drug used 1o
anesthetize bats but just assumed it had to be
illegally obtwined, intern offered no evidence
to demonstrate truth of cormments added
1o video, president testified that videotaped
procedure was approved by veterinarian
and that mother bat had survived while
baby was stiliborn, veterinarians testified thst
procedurc was “aboutas good as you can get,”
and investigating agencies found no violations
Al sanctuary.

Cases that cite this headnote

Libel and Slander
s Waords Tending to Injure in Profession or
Business

Statements made or: social media websites
by former intern (or nonprofit that operated
bat sanctuaty, that method of euthanasia
described in manual written by nonpyofit's
president, involving freezing of bats, was
illegal and inhwmane, as well as intern's
mnuoltiple statemenis on her own website
that cuthanasia procedure was illegat and
inhumane, were defamatory per sc: stafements
injured president in her profession as
conservationist and rchabilitator of bats.

Cuses that cite-this headnote

Libel und Slander

@~ Weight and Sutficiency

Evidence supported finding as to falsity
of defamatory statements made on social
media websites by former intern for nonprofit
that operaled bat sanciuary, that method
of cuthanasia described in a linked manual
written by nonprofit's president ‘was ilfegal
and inhumane, and ag to falsity of intern's
muitiple statements on her own website that
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the ewthanasia procedure was illegal and .

inhumanc; veterinarian and president testified
that at time manual was wntten, the method
tecormmended for cuthanizing bats, which
involved freezing of bat, was not considered
inhumane, aod president clarified that, while
rapid freezing of  comscious animals was
considered inhumane, that was not method
shie had récommended, and that method that
she had recommended was one that had been
used sy researchers for yoars.

Cases that cite this headnote

Libel and Slander
o= Weight and Sufficiency

in defamation action brought against former
intern by president of nonprofit that operated
bat sanctuary; evidenoe supported finding
that defamatory statement posted by former
intern on page of her websiie, stating that
~defendants” altered photograph of intern's
fizoe to add semen, was ditected at president of
nonprofit; statemient referred o “defendants,”
other similar- statoment that intern  was
ordered to remove referfed to “thesc people,”
and taken n comtext, it was clear that
statements were directed at president and
nonprofit.

Cases that cite this headnote

Libel and Slander

«= Words Tending to Injurc in Profession ar
Business

Staternents made on social media websites
by -former inicrn for nonprofit that operated
bat sanctuary, suggesting that nonprofits
president engaged in fraud by using money
received from dissolution of another group 1o
buy vehicle. and that president bought bag
from store with intent 1o use it once, then
retwn it, and that she stated “with an evi]
laugh that she does this frequently.” were
defamatory per se; president ran nonprofit
organization that relied on donations g
jts primary source of income, and thus,

nectuary; Not Reporbed in §.W.3d (2015)

114

{15)

such. statements could injure president in
profession.

Cases that cite this headnote

Libe! and Stundes

# Presumptions and Burden of Proof
Former intern for nonprofit organization
thal operated bat sanctuary did not rebut
presumption as o falsity of defamatory
statements she made on social network
websites  about president's alleped fraud
in using money given to nonprefit from
dissolution of another orgamzation to
purchase vehicle and that president bought
bag from store with intent to use¢ it onge, then
return it. and that she stated “with an evil
laugh that she does this frequently™: neither
intem nor president produced evidence
about president's use of money received
from dissolution of other organization to
buy vehicle. intern asserted that president
admitted truth in her deposition, but only
citation to record in support of such assertion
was to intern's own internel postings, and even
if money received was used 1o buy vehicle,
nothing i record indicated that this was
improper use of funds.

Cuses that cite this headaote

Appeal and Error

& Judgment or Order

Former intern for nonprofit that operated
bat sanctuary was nol hatmed, in defamation
action brought against her by nonprofit's
president, by order dircciing her to remave
pages on social media websites in which she
posted defamatory comments that president
bought bag from store with intent to use
it once. then return it, and that president
stated “with-an evil laugh that she does this
frequently,” even “if president had burden
of proving its falsity and president failed
to mect that burden; cven without this
stalement, the evidence was sufficient to
support the judgment in favor of president on
the defamation claiin.
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Cases that cite this headnote

Libel and Shander

4= Words Tending to Injure in Profession or
Basiness
Statements posted on social media websites
by former intem for nonprofit that operated
hat sancivary, indicating that president had
been found guilty of illegally breeding bats
in viofation of gonprofit's wildlife permit,
were defamatory per se; statements accused.
president of violating permit under which
nonprofit was authorized to krep ocaptive bat
colonies, and ‘therefore, harmed president's
reputation and profession as conservationist
and rehabilitator of bats.

Cases that cite this headnote
Y

Libcl amd Slander
= Weight and Sufficicacy

Evidence supported finding as to falsity
of defamatory stitement posted on social
media websites by former intern of nonprofit
that operated bat sanctuary, reparding an e-
mail from “tbe warden to Texas Parks &
wildlife siating that bats arc breeding™ in
nonprofits facility, implying that wardens had
jound that president of nonprofit was legally
breeding bats in violation of permnit: president
testificd that she did not intentionally
breed insectivorous bats in captive colonies
but that breeding did occur accidentally,
that accidental breeding did not violate
permit, that she did not have permit for
fruit bat captive colony becausg nonc was
required. and that Texas Parks and Wildlife
Department had never found any viokitions
of permit, and Department aitornCy sent e-
mail to intern stating that it would no longer
respond to any further aflegations from her
concerning nouwprofit facifity.

Cases that cite this headnote

Libel and Slander

1191

120}

page 5

& Words Tending to Injure ié Profession or
Business
Statements posted on social media webpages
by former intem for nonprofit that operated
bat sancruary, indicating that nonprofit had
been {orced by health department to leave
city because of complaints, and that city had
to gut building that facility had used, were
defamatory per se; such statements injored
president's profession as conservationist and
rchabilitator by implying that facility was so
ill-kept that it rendered building wnfit for
habitation.

Cases that cite this headnote

Libel and Stander

= Weight and Sefficiency

Evidence supported finding as to falsily
of defamatory stalements posted om sacial
media webpages by former intem for
nonprofit that operate¢ bat sanctuary,
indicating that nonprofit had been forced by
health department 1o leave city because: of
complaints, and that city had to gut building
that facility had used; president testified that
she sold lower half of building and stored
boxes in that part of building, that she
vontucted focal church to come pick up boxes,
that someone called police 1o complain of
boxes. that police erronecusly reported that
building was being guttcd, and that nonprofit
was not evicted from building, and there
was no evidence to support statements that
nonprofit was evicted or that building-was in
such poor condition that it had to be gutted
and cleaned.

Cases that cite this headnotg

Libel and Slander

g+ Words Tending to Injure in Profession or
Business

Statements posied on social media webpages
by former intern for nonprofit that
operated bat  sanciuvary, indicating that
president of nonprofit was breaking law by
illegally obtaining human and animal tabics
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vaccinations, that president exposed interns
to rabies by failing to check 10 make sure
they had theirvaccinations for rabies, and that
president handled rabid bats with bare hands,
were defamatory per sc; statements injured
president in her profession as conservationist
und rebabilitator of bats, and accused her of
vrinainai activity.
>
Cases that cite this headnote

Libel and Skander

w= Weight and Sufficicacy

Evidence supporied finding us to falsity of
defamatory statements posted on social media
webpages by former intesn for nomprofit
that eperated bat sanctuvary, indicating thal
nonprofit's president was illegally oblaining
human and animal rabies vaccinations,
that president exposed interns (0 rabies
by failing to check to make sure they
tiael their vaccinations for rabies, and that
president handled rabid bats with bare
hands; president testified that she worked
with vererinarian to obtain human rabies
vatcination from manufacturer of vaccing
and wovked with nutse practitioner who
admiaistered vaccination when needed, that
bat pup displaying symptoms of rabies did
not have teeth that could break skin, that
she relisd on records of nonprofit employce
who was charged with ensuring that interns
provided proof of tabies vaccinations. and
other intern testified that she was required o
show proof of vaccination before beginning
internship.

Cases that.cite this headnote

Libe) and Stander ¢

o= Admissibiity

Evidence that, afier judgiment was ehtered
in favor of president for nonprofit that
pperated bat sanctuary against former infern
on claims for defamaton, intern filed atfidavit
of indigency which, after contest, irial court
found she was indigent, was not relevam
to determination of whether intern had

d Sanctuary, Not Reported in S.W.3d (201

5)

(231

24]

negative nct worth, for purposes of trial
court's calculation of exemplary damages for
defamation, Tex. Civ. Prac. & Rem. Code
Ann. §41.001¢7).

Cases that cite this headnote

Libel and Slander

ew lntent, malice, or good faith

Clear and convincing evidence supporied
tin} court's findings that former iatern
for nonprofit that .operated bat sanctuary
acted with actual malice, as required 1o
support award of exemplary damages in
action brought by nonprofit’s president for
defamation, in posting defamatory commments
on various social media websites and on
video of president performing episiotomy
on pregnant bat in labor that she posted
on website; intern engaged in calculated,
persisten! attack of president with intent 1o
ruin president's lite's work, reputation, and
standing in animal rchabilitation commuaity,
she impugned presideni's infegrity, honesty,
and competency, she relentlessly reported
president to numerous government agencies.
aone of which found that accusations
were substantiated, and many defamatory
comments were found to be untrue, Tex. Civ.
Prac. & Rem. Code Ann. § 41.001(7).

Cases that cite this headnote

Appeal and Error
= Amount of recovery or extent of relief

Former intern for nonprofit. that operated
bat sanctuary failed to preserve for appeliate
review claim that award of -exemplary
damages to nonprofit's president on clains
for defamation in amount of $3 million was
excessive, where she did not assert complaint
befare trial court, she did not argue statutory
cap on exemplary damages or plead statutory
cap as affirmative defense. Tex. Civ. Prac. &
Rem. Code Ann. § 41.001(7); Tex. R. App. P
38.1(3i)

Cases that cite this beadnote
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Constitutional Law

4= Injunctions

Tnjunction

w=~ Libel and slander

Permanent injunction requiring fonmer intern
for nonprofit thut operated bat sanctuary
to remove from designated interuet websiies
comments ahout nonprofit’s president that
taal court had found to be defamatory
was 0ot unconstitutional prior restraint
on speech; however, although intern could
be responsible for any future defamatory
comments, injunction 10 prohihit future
posting of future defamatory commenis was
uncounstitutional. U.8. Censt. Amend. }.

Cases that cute this headnote

Copyrights and Intellectaal Property

i Contracts -

Former intern for nonprofit that operated
pat sanctuary did not breach provisions
in  c¢ontract with nonprofit that intern
understood that “data, techniques, results,
and anccdotal information provided” to
intern was proprietary and copyrighted as
intellectuid property by nomnprofit, and that
she agreed riot to distribute, share or publish
ihis mformation without nonprofit's prior
written permission. by posting. on inlemet
websites photographs and videos that she
recorded while at Jacility: video of president
performing episiotomy on pregnant bat in
labor, which had no sound, was so edited
that only portion of proceduire was shown,

_$6 that person waiching videa could glean

only hint of president's technique, video did
nol appear 1o disclose any protected data,
techniques, results, or information, president
did not explain how videos of uther bats, or
itow phetographs of bats or president's dogs
conmtained copyright-protecied information,
data, techniques, or resuls, and there was
evidence that presjglent even assentexd to some
of photographs being posted on intern's social
media webpages.

ry; Not Reported in S.W.3d (201 8)

27
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Cases that cite this headnote

Damages

w= Operation and Effect of Stjpulutions
Nonprofit that operated bat sanctuary -was
not entitled to $10,000 in liquidated damages
for former intern's alleged breach of contract,
which provided for award of same if intern's
certitication of completion of nonprofit's
training program was revoked based on
determination that infern had failed to follow
nonprofit's guidelines for care and treatment
of bats, and that, if certificate was revoked,
intern would be prohibited from publishing,
advertising, or communicating lact that she
was trained by nonprofit, where there was no
evidence that nonprofil issued certificate of
completion to intern that was subsequently
revoked. and that intern then -published,
advertised, or communicated fact that she had
been trained or certified by nonprofit.

Cases that cite this headnote

Damages

&= Particular cases

Pvidence did not support finding that
ponprofit thai operated bat sanctuary suflered
$10.000 in damages for breach of contract,
based on former intern having posted on
social media websites photographs that she
1ook while participating in program and
videos she recorded; nomprofit’s president
testified that she had been hired as consultant
in different capacities and that, if knowledge
was shared it would decrease value of her
consulting services, vidéos and photographs
that intern posted did not appear to comain
any information for which president provided
consulting services. and presidemt did not
explain how videos or phoiographs posted
disclosed information that she provided o
clienis.

Cases that ci_te this headnote




Sep 13 2017 516PM HP FaxSeveoarts 13232979484

Cummias v. Bat World Sanctuary, Not Reported in 8.W.3d (2015)

FROM THE 352ND DISTRICT COURT OF
TARRANT COUNTY. TRIAL COURT NO. 352-
24816910

Aftorneys and Law Firms

Randall E. Turner and Bat World Sanctuary and Amanda
Luliar,

Mary Cuninins, pro se.

-
PANEL: DAUPHINOT, MEIER, und GABRIEL, JJ.

MEMORANPUM OPINION !

PER CURIAM

1. Introduction

*1 Appelec Amands Lollar and Appelice Bar World
Sanctuary (BWS), 2 corporation operating as a nonprofit
of which Lollar s president, sued Appellant Mary
Cumuins for defumation and breach of contract. After
a bench iria} at which. Camming reépresented berself and
for which Lollar and BWS had pro bono. representation.
the tria) court signed a judgment in favor of Lollar and
BWS. The trial court gwarded BWS $10,000 in breach
of contract Gamages and $176,700 in attorney's fees,
and it awarded Lollar $3 million in actual damages for
defamation and $3 milion in exempliry damages. It
fuather oxdered that “Cummins be pernuanently enjoined
and. she is ORDERED to immediately aud perranently
rerove from the imernet”™ certain statenents that she had

. 2
made.”

In ten issves, Cummuns, pro st, chalienges the judgment
on both the breach of contract and the defamation
claimg. Because- we hold that Lollar produced iegally
sufficicot evidence to support the trial court's findmng that
Gummins published with aciual malice statements that
were defamatory per se. that Cummins did not challenge
the sufficiency of the evidence o suppoernt noneconomic
daigages. thai Cunmins did net preserve her challenge
16 the exemplary damages award and did not adequaely
challenge the award on appeal. we afftyn the trial court's
judgment ip part, Because we conclude that BWS did
not. produce sufficicnt evidencs on the breach. of contruct

(4]
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claiin and that the award of attorney's fées therefore
cannot stand, we reverse the judgricnt in part.

{1 Background

Lollar became interasted in the care of dats in 1989,
after she found and sought Lreatment for an injured bat.
She began rescuing injured bats. and’ she and a local
veterinarian worked together to Jearn how to teeat bats for
various injuries and ailments. In 1994, Lollar liquidated
her furniture business to create BWS. She bought a
building in Mineral Wells, Texas in order 1o peotect a
wild bat colony that lived in the top of the building. The
wild colony is still housed in the building, and BWS also
has a captive colony of Truit bats and a captive colony of
insectivorous bats. It also operates 2 rehabilitauion center
to treat injured bats for re-release.

In 2000, BWS began offering internships for people to
come to BWS io learm about bat rehabilitation. Camming
visited BWS 15 an intern in 2010 but left early before
completing the internship. To participate n the program,
Cummins signed an internship contract,

In July 2010, shordy after leaving the iniernship and
rewrning to ber home in Californiz, Colomins emailed
someone at the United States Department of Agriculture
to usk whether BWS hud 4 USDA permit to operute. She
alleged that “conditions {at BWS] were less than optima "
in that the smell of bat guano was noticeable outside the
building housing the wild colonay. that the wild colony
included rabid bats, that Lollar did not quarantitic sick
bats from ihe wild colony before taking them in with
the indoor colony for treatment, with the result that the
indoor colony had miics, and that Loliar had failed w0
notice when a bat fcll into a trash can. Cwnmins also
posted online videos that she had shou while at BWS,
photographs she had taken there, and statements asserting
that Lollar neglecied her pet dogs.

*2 In September 2010. Lollar and BWS sued Cummins
for defamation and for breach of the intern contract.
fo March 2011, ihe trial court held a hearing on
a plea to the jurisdiction filed by Cwmnmins (which
the trial court later denicd). After that, in the same
mounth, Cummins gscalated her complainits to government
apencies, reporting Lollar for illcgal possession and. use
of controlled substances und for animal cruelty. Cuminins
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made reports to the Texas Parks and Wildlife Department.
the federal Depariment of Justice, the Texas Veterinary
Baacd, the City of Mineral Wells, the Texas Swate
Department of Health, the United States Fish and Wildiife
Service, the Minerat Wells Health Department, and the
Texas Attorney General. She made allegations to the IRS
that. Loller was committing frand. And Cummins also
posted derogatory coraments on AnimalAdvocates.us, a
website she ran, on Twitter, and on her Facebook paye.
The conuments accusad Lollar of doner fraud. tax fraud,
aoimal cruelty, practicihg. veterinary medicine without a
ligense, and illegal possession of controlled substances.

Cummins wmade 2 number of other statements on the
internet that were critical of Lollar but did not accuse
her -of any crime. For example, Lollar obtained her
GED when she was fifteen vears old and spent years
lepsxing about the care of bats under the supervision of
a veierinarine. Cummins's internet comments, however.
portrayed Lollar as someonc too uneducated and
unintelligear 1o be consid::red an expert on wildlife
rehabililation. Commins repeatedly made- statements to
the effect that Lollar “has not gone past the ninth grade,”
“adinits she has no education, didn't even finish high
school, is not a. veterinarian, has never taken any classes
in animal cars,” and “admits she is uneducated yet she
pesforns surgery on bats [that] die.” Cumiins speculated
about Lollar's reasons for not finishing high schoel,
stating that “I'm. going to wager that she had poor grades.
Good students don‘t drop out so they can become a
fork lift operator, welder and a maid, 3 Oops, 1 mean a
cleaning service.” Cummins roentioned in only one of hex
nutmerous postings on the tapic that Lollarhad earned her
GED.

Cummins alsa posied negative staiements about Lollar's
attotney (accusing him of bheing umethical), a court
reporter present ut a deposition (accusing him of perjury
aind: corruption), and the trial judge (aceusing him of
rujing for Loltar as a.{avor to Lollar’s attorney). After her
own attorney failed ro.corroborate one of her accusations
against Lollac's nttorney, gpe accused him of falling asleed
duzing the deposition and called the Tarrant County Bar
Assaciation to question his competence, prompting him
1o-withdraw from representing her.

Loltar amensded her petition to include the siatements
that Cummins had posted about her after the suit was
(o]
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filed. Lollar alleged that Cununins's acts civil practice and

remedies code.

After 4 four-day tria] to the bench, the trial court rendered
judgment for Lollar and BWS on the defamation and
breach of contract claims, and Cuminins now appeals.

1. Standards of Review

Legal Sufficiency

In each of her issues, Cummins challenges the sufficiency
of the evidence to support the judgment. A trial court’s
findings of fact have the same foree and dignity as 4 jury's
answers to juty questions and are rcviewable forlegal and
factual sufficicocy of the evidence to support them by the

same standards. > We may review conclusions of law to
determine their correciness based upon the facts, but we.
will not reverse because of an erroneous conclusion if the

trial court rendered the proper judgment. 6

*3 A party will prevail on its legal-sufficiency challenge
of the evidence supporiing an adverse finding on an issuc
for which the opposing party bears the burden of proof if
there is a complete absence of evidence of a vital fact or if
the evidence offcred to-prove a vital fact is no more thaa a
scintilla. 7 More than a scintilla exists when the ¢vidence
as a whole ises to a level enabling reasonable and fair-
minded people to have différent conclusions: $ We regard
evidence thatcreates 4 mere surmise or suspicion of a vital

fact as, in legal effect, no cvidence. ?

In conducting a legal-sufficiency review, we considet the
evidence in the light most favorable to the judgment,
crediting evidence that a rcasonable fact {inder could
have considered favorable and disregarding unfavorable

avidence unless the reasonable fact finder could not. 10
We indulge every reasonable inference that supports the
trial court's findings. U fa party is attacking the legal
sufliciency of an adverse finding on an issue on which the
party had the burden of proof, and there is no evidence
to support the finding, we review all the evidence to
determine whether the contrury proposttion is ¢stablished

as a matter of law. 1
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Actued Malice

Ina defamation caso in which actual malice is required and
is found, the First Amendment requires ippsllate courts to
coppduct an independent review of the evidence supporting
the finding. 13 The Texas Supreme Court has described
the - revicw we must conduct and the deference we miust
giveto factfinder's determinations of credibility.

The independent review required by the First
Amendrnent is unlike the evidentiary review to which
appelate courts are accustomed in that the deference
to be gven the fact finder's deteyminations is limited.
Yadeed, the [United States) Supreme Court has siated
that “[t]he question whether the cvidence in the record
in a defamation caseis sufficient to support a tinding of
actual malice is a guestion of law.” On questions of Jaw
wi: ordinarily do not defer to a lower court at all. But
the sutficiency of disputed evidence to suppott a finding
cannat be treated as a pure question of law when there
are issues of ceedibility.

... [A]n independent review of evidenve of actual malice
should begin with a determination of what cvidence
the jury must have found incredible.... As long as the
jury's credibility determinations are reasonable, that
evidence is 10 be.ignored. Next, undisputed facts should
be identificd.... Finally, a determination must ‘be mude
whether the undisputed evidence along with any ather
evidénoe that the jury.could have believed provides clear

and convincing proot of actual malice. "

IV. Discassion

A. Defamation

Cummins’s fisst [ive issues challenge the award of damages
for defamavion. Her issues are; -

1. Are Appellecs Amanda Lollar, BWS, lirited-purpose
public figures with respect to their voluntasy and public
participation in animal and bat care?

57
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2. Are statements about Appelless, public safety, public
health, government action, statemcnts about matters of
public concern?

3. Did Appellees presest “more than a scintilla”
of evidence that any of the supposed defamatory
statements meets all four of the following criteria?

*4 y. is a verifiable statement of fact;
b. is false or not substantially true;
¢. is of and conceming Appellees; and

d. is capable of conveying a defamatory meaning
about Appellces? 2

4. Did the trial court err in granting [Lollar and BWS]

Jjudg[ Jment against. Appellant for defumation?

5. Were Appellees entitled w0 the amount of
corpensatory or exemaplary damages awarded?

We first address Cummins's arguments regarding BWS's
entitlernent to judgnient for defamation. 3 The fecord
does not disclose when in 2010 BWS incorperated. but
before incorporating, BWS was a nonprofit dssociation.
Thus. it all times relevant to thissuit, BWS was an entity
distinct (rom Lollar. lo Althougir the petition alleged
that Cummins made false, defamatory stutements about
both Lollar and BWS, BWS did not ask for damages

for defamation.’” And the trial court awarded BWS
only the breach of contrnct damages it bad asked for.
Accordingly. becaunse there is no judgment for BWS for
defamation, we do not address Cumming's arguments
about the sufficiency of the evidence to support the
judgment for defamation as to BWS.

1. Law of Defamation in Texas

To prevail on a defamation claim, a plainuff must
prove that the defendamt published a statgment that was
defamatory concerning the plaintiff and, generally, that
the defendant did so with some degree of fault regarding
the wuth of the statement—with actual malice if the
plaimiff is a public official or public figure or with

negligence if the pluintiff is 4 private individual. 18 10 s0me
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cases, the phaintiff must also prove that the statements
were fuise. 'Y

“A stateruent is defamatory when a porson of ordinary
intelligenie would ‘interpret it in a way that tends o
injuce the subject’s reputation and thereby expose the
subject to public hatred, contempt, or ridicule, or fmancial
injury, or 1o impeach the subject’s honesty, integrityl]

virise. of rcpula(ion."m A defamatory statement may be
classified as either defamatory per se or defamatory per
guod. A statement is defamatory per se if it is injurious
to . person's office, business, profession, or occupation
or if it Talsely charges a person with the commission
of - crime. 21 A statemient is delamatory per se if it is
defamatory on its face, that is, it’ it is “so obviously
hutful to the person aggrieved™ that the law requires no
proof of its injurious character to make it actionable. 2
Statements. are defamatory ‘per quod if they are not
obvicusty hurtful and require the plainuff o show their

™ - . P . 13
defamatory meanings through extrinsic evidence.

#§ Defamation law has evolved subsiantially since this
. 2 .
counlry's founding. 23 Under the early common law of
defiimation, no degree of fault was required; 4 person was
L. i . 2
strictly linble for making defamatory statements. 2 And
hostile criticism against the government was actionable
even i tire critical stilements were true. ¢ Qver time.
the law evolved to provide some privileges, such as the
privitege of “fair comment.y 27 additionally. even in early

cases in this countty, the law allowed truthas a defense. 28

Significant chugges to modern defzmation law began
with New York Thnes v. Sullivan, in which the United
State Supreme Court held that, aside from whatever
stapdards a state might use 1o determine u deferidant's
entitienient to defamation privileges under state law, the
First Amendment imposes its own limits in defamation
actions brought by public officials against those who have
criticized their official conduct. 2 In those cases, the Fiist
Amendmetit's guarantess of free speech and of a tree press
prohibit strict liability for defamatory statgments, and 4
plaintifi must prove that the statements were made with
“getual matice.” >

The term “malice”™ was already used in defamation Jaw
in ucgating the availabi}{ity of privileges under state
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faw. and in that context, malice referred to spite or ill-

will. 3! But in the context of defining the constitutional
privilege under which the plaintiff must prove fault, the
Supreme Court used that term fo mcan the degree of
knowledge the defendant had about the iruth of that

statement. % Specifically, the Court held that a detendant
acts with actual matice if the defendant publishes the
stalement “with knowledge that it was false or with

reckless disregard of whether it was false or not.” ¥

Because * actual malice concerns the defendant's attiwude
toward the truth. not toward the plaintiff,” > a defendant’s
“free-{loating™ feeling of Ul will toward a plaintiff is
generally irrelevant to proving actual rualice. M
*6 In Curtis Publishing Company. 2 plurality of the
Supreme Court held that the actual malice requirement
applies lo defamation actions brought by public

figures. 35 And in Rusenbloom v. Metromedia. Inc., a
plurality of the Court concluded that “[i}f @ matter is &
subject of public ... interest, it cannot suddenly become
less so merely because a private individuat is involved,”
and therefore the constituiional privilcge applies to suits
brought by private persons if the statements forming the

basis of the suii were on a subject of publicinterest. %

Then. i Gertz, the Court backed off frorm Rosenbloon's
holding. concluding that a state'sinterest in compensating
private plainiiffs for mjury to reputation requires: that a
different rule apply to defamation. claims ihey bring. 1
That Court did. however. reaffirm application of the New
York Times privilege to public figures. In doing se. it
acknowledged that a person may become a public figure
in one of two ways: by achieving such pervasive fame
or notoriety that they may be considered 3 public figurce
“for all purposes and in 4ll contexts,” and by injecting
his or hersell or beipg “‘deawn into a particular public
controversy,” “thereby becom{ing] a public figure for a

fimited range of issues,”

While the ‘Gertz court leld that the: New . York
Times constitutional privilege i3 not available 10 media
defendants i suits brought against “them by private
individuals, it also held that in such cases, some degree
of fault must be proven—and thus, there can be no strict
liability in defamation suits agdinst media defepdans. ¥
But the Court lef it to the individual states to decide whart

degree of fault had to be proven. 4
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Gerz also addressed damnage awards in such cascs,
holding that statcs maynot permit recovery. of presumed

or punitive damages unless actual malice is provcn.“ As
for Rasenbloons's public concern standard, the Gersz court
stated that using thar standard in & suit brought by a
privaté person wouwld force judges “to decide on an ad
boc basis which publications address issues of ‘gencral ar

M 1 < ” 2
public interest’ and which do not. 4

In summary, after Gertz, a public figure suing a media
defendant for defamation was required to show actual
malice. A private figure suing a media defendant. was
required to show at Jeast negligence, but ualess state law
required it, the plaimiff"'did not have lo show actual
malice. even i the defamatory stalements were op 2
maiter of public concern. ™ The private plaintfl would,
however, have to show actual malice when suing a media

_defendant in order-lo recover cither presuned or punitive
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“I o Dun & Bradstreet. Inc. v. Greenmoss Builders, Inc.,
the Court consideréd the First Amendinent's application.
1. defamation cases in which the plaintiff and defendant
are both private persons and the speech invotved is parely
private speech—that is. speech that does not invelve
matzers of public concern. % Dun & Bradstreet mvolved
starctments about Greenmoss Builders in a credit report

sent by Dun & Bradstreet to five.of its subscribers. 46

In » plurality opinion, the Count discussed Gertz and
characterized thar opinion as bolding that a plaintiff bad
to show actual malice to rccover presumed and punitive
dimages iFthe plaioniff was a private individual who sued
a. medix defendant “for a libet that involved a mauey
of public concern.” 47 afier discussing the competing
intgresis involved, the plurality held that when defamation
snits involve only private parties, “{ijn light of the reduced

constitutional value of speech involving no matters of

phiblic concern.” a state's interest in providing remedies
for defumation “adequately supports awurds of presumed
and punitive damages-—even ubsent a showing of ‘actual
ralice.’ s34 Thys a private plaintiff suing a media
defendant trad to prove actual malice to recover presumed
or punitive damages. regardless of the subject matter of
the stateménts, but a private plaintit! suing a private
defendant did not have to prove actual mulice (o recaver

ERTLAW 0 TR T i
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presumed or punitive damages if the speech was on a
matter of private concern. The opinion did not set out &
standard for rceovering such damages in suits when the
plaintift’ and defendant are private individuals and the
speech is on a matter of public concern.

In Philadelphic Newspapers, Ine. v. Hepps, the.Court ance

again brought up the “public concern” stanctard. 4 The
Court considered New York Times and its progeny and
stated that from those cases, one could discern “two forces
that ray reshape the vommon-law iandscape to conform
to the First Amendment. The first is-whether the plainuff
is a public official or figure. or is instead a private figure.
The second is whether the speech at issue is of public

concern.” 30

With these two forces in mind, the Hepps Court added
another limitation og the comumon taw of defamation.
this time addressing the common law presumption that
defamatory speech is [alse. 51 The Court held that “when
a planuff seeks damages against a media defendant for
speech of public concern.” it is not enough to satisfy
the First Amendment for 2 state to allow the defense
of truth; instead. the plaintifl must bear the burden of
proving the statements were false. 5 Heppx involved a
media defendant. and the Court expressty declined to state
whether the rule it set out applied equally to nonmedia
defendants. = This ¢juestion of in what circumstanees. if
any, 4 private figure plaintifl suing a nonmedia defendant
has the burden of proving that a delamutory statement is
{alse hias not been answered by the Supreme Court.

8 [n Texas, with respect to the level of fault that must
be proven in defamation actions, we requre & plainsiff
who is a public official or figure 10 show actual malice,
regardless of whether the defendant is a member of the
media or a private individual. 3 When the plaintiff is
a private figure suing a media defendant. ihe plaintiff
raust show negiig_e:nc-_e.5 5 Based on Gertr and Dun &
Bradstreet, the Texas Supreme Court has recognized
that “in a defamaiion suit between private [parties)
concerning privale speech, reCoOvery of preyumed and.
punitive damages does not violate the First Amendment.”
bui in even such cases, Texas requires the plaiatitf to
prove at least negligence. 3 That court has not addressed,
however, whether the plaintiff must prove fault when
the suit is between private individuals, concemns private
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speech, and is for defumution per quod {and thus ne
damages are-presumed),

Regacding proof of the truth or falsity of defamatory
statements, a plaintiff in Texas iaust prove that the
statenents are false if the defendant is a member of the

media and the statement is a matier of public concern. 37
Neither the United States Supreme Court nor the Texas
Supreme Court has required proof of falsity by more than

¢ prepunderauce of the evidence. 8 The Texas Supreme
Court has thus far not abrogated ihe common law rule
thiat the truth is 2 defense in cases in which the defendant
is ot a mimber of the media and the statements are not

s 3
on a matler of public concern. 9

Because this case involves defamation posted on the
internct. we make one morve ohservation on the evolution
of defamation law. In Gertz, one basis used by the
Supreme Court tor distinguishing between public officials
and figares on ihe one hand and private individuals on
the other was the “greater aceess to the channels of
effective commuitication” thai public ofticials und Agures
ususlly have compared with private individuals and the
resulting “more realistic opportunity o counteract false
statements,” with the result that *[p]rivate individuals are

therefore mote vulnerable to -inj'ury."é'0 Today. with the
advént of the internet and the widespread use of social
nedia. this assessient is fess true than it once was.

Furthermore, the United States Supreme Court has
retbgmized “the special add constitutionally recognized
rolg of fthe press) in informing and educating the public,
offcring criticismn, and praviding a forum for discussion
and debate,” %! entitling it (o special protections under
the First Amendment: Though the media still serves that
‘important purpoese, private citizens now have a greater
ability to also serve that role, though usually to a lesser
degree.

Neither the United States Supreme Court nor the Texas

Supreme Court has seen the need'to adjust defamation law
. . . 4

in light of thechanges in technology. 82 Thus, for now, we

continue 1o distinguish among categories of plainti ffs and

defendants. 82 With this background in mind, we turn to

© Curaming's issues.
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2. Sufficiency of the Evidence to Show Defamaticn

*9 {1f In her first issuc, Cummins argues thai the
judgment is erroncous because Lollarisa limjted-purpose
public figure who had the burden to prove that the
statements Cumimins made were false.-and she failed to
meet that burden. Whether a party is a limited-purpose

public figure is 8 question of law for the court.64 In
answering that questicn, courts use a three-part test.

First, there must be a public controversy oF issus. 65
In this context, the term “public controversy” means
one that is “public both in the sénsc that people ate.
discussing it and {that} people other than the nmmediate
participans in the controversy are likely to feel thg impact
of its :n;;solu‘tkm."66 The controversy must be about
some specific question, not merely a geperal concern or
interest. %7 It does not include every matter in which the
public is interested or that has attracted -attention;. “it
must be a real dispute, the outcome of which affects the
general public ar some segment of it in an appreciable
way,” one that “has reccived public attention because its
ramifications will be felt by persons who are not divect
participants.”bs We may also Jook to whether “the press
was covering the debate, reporting what people were
saying and uncoveringfacts and theories to help the public

formulate some judgment.” 69

The second part of the test looks as the plaintiff's relation
to the controversy; “the plaintiff must have more than

- . . 7
& trivial or tangential role in the controversy.” 0 As the

" Upited States Supreme Court has said, people classed

as public figures have usually “thrust themselves to the
forefront of particular public controversies in -order to
influcnce the resolution of the issues involved,™ thereby

inviting augntion and comment. 7L The Texas Supreme
Court has found it instructive to consider *“(1y whether
the plaintiff actuaily sought publicity surrounding the
controversy; (2) whether the plaintiff had access to the
media; and (3) whether the plaintiff ‘voluntarily engagfed]
inactivities thai necessarily invotveld] the risk of increased

. T2
exposure and injury 1o reputation.”” 7

Finally, under the ihird part of ‘the test, “the
alleged defamation moust be germane to the plaintiff's

TN w73
participation in the controversy.
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Curimins asscrts that Lollar was “the subject of local and
srate-wide debate and discussion years before” Cummins's
posting of statements about her on thie internet. She points
1o pumerons books and-articles that Lollar had written in
the years prior to Cimmins's internship. These materials
refate to the care and treatment of bats. These books do
rot shiow that Lollar was the subject of locat and statewide
debic.

Cum:mins does not expliin what specific controversy the
writings relate w ot how, by writing the material, Lollar
played a role:in or inserted herself into the controversy. ™
And.(rom our review of the record, we have found no such
public cantroversy. Cummins argues “[tjhe conteoversy
at. issue here had and still has potentially far-reaching
effcets. throughout the state” because BWS bats have
{csted positive for rabies agd “{Lollar] also stated [that]
she. jntends to treat bats with White Nose Syndromel,]
which is also contagious.” But we found no evidence in
the fecord showing that Lollar's writings: about the care
and treatment of bats relaied 10 any controversy zbout
batswith rabies. that there is any specific controversy over
the jssue into which Lollar has injected herself, or that
ireatment of baés with White Nose Syndrome 15 public
controversy'into which Lollar has involved herself.

“30) We have found no evidence to support Cumning's

contention that Lollar is a.limited-purpose public figure.
Based on the evidence in the record, we cannot say that
any conclysion that Lellar was not a limited-purpose
public: figure was erroncous. We overrule Cummins's first
issue.

{2/ 16 her second issue, Curmmips argues that her
stalewments were about matters of public concern because
her ‘commients were criticisms of Lollar’s care of bats.
For, pusposes of allocating the burden of proving the
trigh or falsity of a statement, » spcech-is oun a matter
of public concern “when it can “he fairly considered as
reldting to any mntter of political; social, or other contern
{o the community,” or when it ‘is a subject of legitimate
news interest: that is, a subject of general interest and of
value zad conuvern to the public.” ” 7 Cummins contends
that becanse her statements were about matters of public
concern--<and we wgrec that allegations of animal cruelty
¢an be a matter of public concern 7 _Lollar had to prove
cothat Camming's. statements were false.
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As noied above, neither the United States.Supreme Court
nor the Supreme Court of Texas has required a private
plaintiff to prove the falsity of defamatory statements
i suits against nommedia defendants, even when the

statements are on matters of public concern. ' Lollar
is not a public figure, and Cumming i3 flot a media
defendant, and. therefore the defamatory- statements arc
presumed false. But our disposition. of tiis appeal would
not change even if Lollar had to prove the falsity of
the statements. As we discuss under Comming's third
and fourth issues, Lollar met that burden on enough
of the statements to support the trial court’s finding of

defamation. We overrule Cummins's second issue. I

in her third and fourth issues. Cummins asserts that the
trial court erred by granting judgment for Lollar because
Lollar did not present more than a scintille of evidence
that staements Cummins made met the elements of
defanation. Because Cumming's brief argues these issues
together, we shall address them together.

+J1 Cummins argues that thc statements were not
defamatory because (1) most of the statements are not
verifiable asscrtions of fact and (2) they are not opinions
that imply the existence of undisclosed facts because
the statements “are linked to supportiny files written
by others including government agencies.” She contends
some of the statements were taken from reporis made to
governmient agencies, and the other staiements are linked
to documents written by government agencies, 80 which
show the factual basis of her opinien.

This argument does not merit much discussion. ‘While
Cummins did post statements about her opinion of Lollar,
Lollar's claim was based on other statements aileging
facts about Lollar. To the extent that Cummins may have
linked 10 government reports o her website, the record
does not indicate 1o what documents or websites the
hyperlinks in Cummins's online statements were directed,
and the gowernment communications that sre in the
record do. pot support Cummins's version of facts, s we
discuss in greater defail below. We oversule this part of
Cummins’s third and fourth issues. ‘

13| Similarly unpersuasive is Cummins's argument that

some of the stalements were taken [rom reports
made to govermment agencies and therefore: cauld net
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form: the basis of Lollar's defamation claim. While a
! R
privilege can exist for statements made to government

agencics, Bl Ccummins was not making a report 1o a
government agency when she posted the stateents an ber
website. Furthermore, defamation privileges may beeither
S 2 .
absolute or conditivnal, 82 and Cummins does not tell us
which type-of privilege applies either to the statements she
made to government officials or to her reposting of those
. - L . X

cominunications, or why any suchprivilege applies. B we
overrule this part of her third and fousth issues.

[4) Cummins avgues that one of the videos relied on
by Lollar to show defamation was shared with Lollar's
permission and therefore cannol support a defamation
claim. The video shows Lollar performing an cpisiotomy
on-a pregnant bat in labor.

Thig-argument is unavailing, Lollar alleged that Cummins
had -added captions 10 the video that mischaracterized
whar was happening inthe video and in whieh she accused
Lollzr of animal cruelty. Assuming for the sake of this
argumen: that Cummins had permission to post the raw
video ootage, she did mot have (and does not argue
that she had) permission to post the video as amended
with those. added captions. Lollar lurther testified that
the -video had been edited to be misleading in that
Cunmins removed the part of the video showing Lollar
administering pain medication. Because  is the captions
and editing that Lollar alleged were defamatory, it is
itrelevant whether Cammins had permission to post the
original, uncaptioned. unedited video. We averrule this
part of Cummiins's.third and fourth issues.

{5} Cummins furtherargues thatten of the complained-of
statements are no? about and.do not refer to Lollarand do
notmeei the tequirement that the defamatory statements
poiiit to Lollar and no one else. ¥4 The wrial court admitied
info evideie nn exhibit consisting of hard copics of
postings about Loilar on Cummins's Facebook, Twitter,
and YouTube accounts, as well as pages discussing Lollar
posicd on Cummins's Animal Advocates website. This
exhibit is nearly 100 puges long, and the staiements
complained of were primarily from 1hese pages.

1z Of the ton statements, one specifically refers to
“Defendants,” and the rest were posted on the Aninaal
Advocates website on a page dedicated to talking about
,:;A;O“ﬂf and her lawsuit against Cummins. When looking
LY
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at the statements in their contcxt, it is. clear to whom
Cummins is referring in her statements. For example, as
we discuss below, twa of the statements allege that Lollar's
dogs were noglected and that one of the dogs died from
the neglect, and it ik clear that it 1s Loliar who Cammins
is accusing of the neglect. 85 we overrule this part of hex
third and fourth issucs.

We now turn to the specific statements made by
Cunumins and her arguments about the sufficiency of
the evidence to support the defamation finding. Most of
staiemments fall into one of three categories: allegations
that Lollar committed animal cruelty. allegations that
Loilar committed fraud. and allegations that Lollar
viclated 2 law, rule, standard, ot rcgulation.

For most of the statements, Cummins argucs thai Lollar
failed to prove that the statements were faise. And for
most of the statements, Cummins either expressly asserts
that she proved the statements are trug or points.to some
place in the record that she contends shows the truth. of
the statement. Cummiins. further argues that most of the
statements are not capable of a defamatory meaning.

Allegations of Animai Cruelty

Cummins accused Lollar of cruelty to baws and te two of
Lollar's pet dogs. Cummins claimed that onc of the dogs
had severe periodontal disease because of Lollar's neglect
and that cather than have the condition treated, Lollar had
the dog cuthanized. Cuminius claimed thiit another dog
could not walk and bad 1o drag itself around by its front
legs and that it had nails so long that 1t could not stand.

The gist of Cummioss's statements about the dogs
is that Lollar's veterinarian records show that when
Lollar's dog had moderate periodontitis, the veterinarian
recommended trcatment, but instead, Lollar refused
treatment and considered euthanizing the dog. Lollar then
neglected treating her dog until the dog was. in poor
condition and was in so much pain it cqu}d not cat, at.
which point Lolizr had the dog euthanized. Cummins
asserted that the dog “died from neglect of care™ and that
“(iJv's all in her vet records.”

In another paragraph. in which Cwnmins also accused
Lollar of letting two bats die from neglect -and
impersonating a doctor to illegally obtain rabies
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vascines, Cumming again asserted thut Lollur ignored
her veterinanian's advice to have her dog's teeth cleaned.
Elgwhere Cammins made the statement that “[oln wp
of this het old dog that was euthanized was in really bad
shape. One had cud stage periodontal disease with toas of
tartar. Why didn't she have her vet clean the dog's teeth
instend of letting it get worse?”

Cummins asserted that Lollar's other dog could not walk
and couid only drag herself by her fromt legs and that
during pretrial proceadings Lollar kept changifig-her story
aboyt whcther the dog could walk or not. Cummins
stabed. “There is something really wrong here for her to
mike up these stories,” and “Why not get [the dog] a cart?
I would not let my dog drag itself around.” Elsewhere on
fier websité, Cummins stated that Lollar's lying about the
matier “seems pathological.”

[6] AlL of Cummins's statements on the matter are
defamatory per se because they are directed at Lollar,
Lollar is a wildlife rehabilitator and conservannnist,
and- these staiements accuse her of, at a minimum.
ariimal neglect. These statements do not merely generally
disparage her characier dr reputation; they ascribe to
Lollar “conduct, characteristics(,) or a condition that
would adversely affect [her] fitness for the proper conduct
of (her] lawful ... profession,” and as such, they injurc her

in her profession. 86

%J3 Cummins argues that some of her statements
deseribed what she witnessed at BWS, and the rest of
the information she posted came direcily from veterinary
records produced by Lollar in discovery, which Cummins
says shé linked 10 on ;ihe webpage on which the
statemients were posted. Bul we cannot say exactly whal
the. veierinagian records contained becauss Cammins did.
not intraduce those records inte evidence. We may not
take Cummins's word for it thut the website linkad to the
records or that the records siy what she contends they

do. ¥’

Cwsomins also contends that Lollars actiens “mect the

legal definition ofanimal neglect™ and thal her statement

to thai cffcct wes her opinion, mot a fact on which

a defamation claim may be based. But the statcments

thar she used to cxplain thc basis of her opinion

are set oul as aifirmative facts, and those facts arc
mdtﬁumawry. Furthermore, Cummins does not ¢ite any
.pautherity for the proposition that Lollar's actions meet
e &
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a legal definition of animal neglect. 8 The penal codé's
definition of cruelty to & nonlivestock animal includes
a person’s act of intentionally, knowingly, or recklessly
failing “unreasonably 10 provide necessary ... Care ... for
an snimal in the person's custody,” ¥ put as we discuss
next. Loltar producad evidence that she did not fail to
provide necessary care for her dogs.

From our review of the record, the only evidence that
supports Cuminins's statements about the dog that could
not walk was her own testimony. Cumpuing stated that
~when [ was there, T saw [the dog) dragging herself: 1 did
not sce her run and jump.” And she stated that Lollar's
dogs all hud long nails, which Cummins believes is cruel.
Cumnins asserts that one of her trial exhibits includes 3
photograph of the dog with long rear claws, that she never
saw the dog stand. and that she only saw itdrag itself. The
exhibit she reters to contains 189 pictures, and she doesnot
tell us 1o which picture she refers. We found ten pictures
with dogs in them. We cannot tell from the pictures
whether any of the dogs in the pictures have nails so long
they would prevent a dog from standing. None of the

. pictures showa dog having difficulty walking. Asfarasthe

dog she alleged died from ncglect, zhe only evidence that
supports Cumimins’s stateents is the testimony of Lollar
and her vetetinarian that the dog did have periodontitis.

{71 Loilar, contrary to Cumians's argument, produced
evidence that showed the statements were false. Lollar
stated that it was not true that one of her dogs could not
walk and had to drag itself. Lollar ackuowledged that one
of her dogs “had a form of pericdontitis,” but she went on
to explain that

[h}e was 19 years old when he
was ecuthanized. It was too late
10 have any dental work done on
him. Up until that point, ke had
maintained a very healthy mouth.
But when an animal reaches an
age that theyre too old to have
anesthesia admimstered, there is no
way to-do any dental work on them
because they might not wake up
froma surgery. He was also at the very
end of his life. He was euthanized
after he collapsed a—a few weeks
after that.
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Dr. Tad Yarret icstified -at trial. Dr, Jarrettis a Mineral
Wells veterinarian who worked with Lollar to develop
standards of care for bats and whose practice freats
Loliar's dogs. Cummins asked him about his treatent
of the dog with periodontitis. He testified that the dog
*was neating the end of his life” and “probably had seme
degree of periodontitis.” When asked if he advised Lollar
totreat the dog for the condition, he stated, “[yJowknow,
thit's standard recommendation for any dog with denval
tariar.” ‘When Cummiris asked if Lollar had asked him to
euthanize the dog, Dr. Jarretl claritied that Lollar had not;
she had at one point asked him to evaluate the dog only
to “see i it was time” because “she didi't know for sure,
younew, and she was worried about his overall health.”
An associate veterinarian that worked for hitn was the
personwho eventually euthanized-the dog, and Dr. Jagrent
stated that he was sure his agsociate had made the correct
decision.

*14 Dr. Janet Messner, a South Dukota veterinarian
who visited BWS in 2011 1o be trained by Lollar on bat
caie, lestified by deposition. She stated that Lollar's dog
did-not drag hesself around. She testified thar the dog
had had “some repair done, ... probably thousands of
dollars worth” and when she was at BWS in the year after
Crimmins was thete, the dog could walk and run. And
she-stated 1at none of Lollar's dogs scemed neglected or
nusTreald

Sara Kennedy, 4 BWS volunteer in July 2010, testified
by deposition and was asked aboul the dog with
periodontitis. She stated that he “ate and acted pretty
much normally” for a dog of his age. The dogs she: saw
at BWS were not too thin or overweight and did not
have overgrown claws. When asked specifically about
the dog that Cummins claimed had to drag herself
arownd, Kennedy stated thas she walked and ran. All
the dogs she suw seemed “happy, healtby, decently fed,
well[-Jgroomed.”

Kay Singleton testitied for Cummins. Singleion was an
intern. af BWS at the same timé as Curruning and lefl the
@r@gram early with Cummins. She stawed that she did not
hoye a pleasant experience at BWS, But despite not being
favorably-minded toward Loliar. she did not testify that
thie dog Cummins spoke of could not walk. Asked if she
saw the dog run and jump, Singleton only stated, “Tdon't
think any of them ran and jumped, as [ recall they're all
ey 010" When asked if any of the dogs dragged their legs, she
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stated that she could not recall much about the dogs. Thus,
Singleton's testimony, though not helpful to Lollar, was
also not helpful to Cummins. We hold that the testimony
of Loftas, Dr. Messner, Dr. Jarrett, and Kennedy was
sufficient to support a 'ﬁnding that Cummias's statements

about the dogs were false. % We overrule her third and
fourth issues as to these statements.

(8] Cummins also made allegations-that Lollar committed
cruelty towisd buts. She stated that Lobar's aftorney was

working for someone who comuits animal cruelty, and it

is clear from the context of the statements that Lollar is the:

person to whom Cunumins was refecring. Curnmins stated

that Lollars method of euthamizing bats is inhumane

and causes the bats to die of sufTocation. -Lollar uses

the inhalant anesthetic Tsoflurane for anesthesia and for

cuthanasia, and Cummins alleged that Lollar's use of the

drug is illegal. inhumane, and unsafe.

Cummins further stated that Lollar never washed her
hands before surgery. referencing « picture she took of
Lollar that she claimed backed up her statement, and
she alleged that Lollar pulled molars out of 4 conscious
bat. Cummins then stated that bat experts “know that
bats must be unconscious and intubated.” She asked
rhetorically, “Can you imagine the pain that bat felt?™
She referred.to Lollar's anesthesia technigue as "cavenan
velerinary practice.”

Cummins also accused Lollar of caperimenting on bats,
claiming that “[t]he bats are dying because shé doesn't take
them to the vet.” Elsewhere in the paragraph in which

“this statement appeared, Cummins stated that Lollar

perforins C-sections and amputation on bats even though
Lollar is not a veterinarian. Thus, the “experimenting”
that Cummins appeared to be referring to is performing
surgery on bats without a veterinarian license.

In another statemest, Cummins accuscd Lollar of

“hacking ap animal 1o death.” This statement correlates

with other statements in which Cummins disagreed with

Lollar's version of what happened during- thie cpisidtomy

that Cummins filned, and in which she stated that Lollar
“really needs to get her vision checked.”

*15 As noied. above, Cummins also posied the video
of Lollar performing an episiotamy. to which she added
captions accusing Lollar of causing the hat's uterus o
protapse and of causing the batto die from the procedure.
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On the YouTube page on which Cummins posted the
video. she added text underneath the video box that states,
“A woman performed a double episiotomy on a hat.
The: bt had. no local anesthesia, The baby died. This
person is not.a veterinanian.” The first frame of video is
a page of text stating, “This bat was aboui to give birth.
Amanda Loltar of Bat World Sanctuary decided 10 do an
epistotomy. She did not give the bat pain relief. She isnota
vetoribasian. GRAPHIC ANIMAL CRUELTY!" Then
duting the video, the [ollowing cuptions wege added;

“Amanda cuts thc bat's vagina-with scissors three times
Bat-conyvulses near the enid then passes out from schock
[sic]”

“She can't tell thie difference between
a foot and baby's head Amanda
pulls to0 much and bat's vagina,
uterus prolapse’

“Mom bat passes out {rom shock
Sne laer dies”

“Baby is pink yet dead. Tt had just died.”

The last frame ol the video displays text that states,
~ Amanda tiies to glue the incisions closed. She accidently
glued [the bat's} vagina shut. Mom. later died. Report
Amanda Lollar for animal cruelty and pegiect.” These
statements disparaging Lollar's treatment of bats and
accusing her of cruelly taward them ave defamacory per
se because they injure Lollar in her profession as a bat

rehubilitator and as-an expert in bat care. a

9} To prove the truth of these statements, Cumining
relied primatily on her own wstimony. Cummins testified
that at BWS, she wilnessed unspecified violutions of
rmapd:ﬁiéd, provisions of the Heaith-Code, of Texas Parks
& Wildlife regulations, and of “the Animal Welfare Act.”
She iestilied that-a veterinavian's prescrption is meeded to
usc fsofturane, that Lollar used Tsoflurane “io basically
OD [bats] to euthanizé them.” and that Lollar ~perforned
surgery with anesthesia without a veterinanan licensc
or wversight and bats had been dying because of the
violations.”

Cuirnmuins was asked why she stated online that Lollar had
o:htiuined Isoflurane illegally, andl Cummins responded.
“($jhe didut tefl me she got it from her vet, she just
told me she that has a source. Tt didn't sound like it

WOSTLAW s
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was legal.” She testified that she “would think it it was
a veterinarian [Laollar] would have told {ber}, so [she]
assumed it was another source.” Lollar's attorney asked
her, “At the time you posted on the Internet that she was
using [soflorene illegally, you did not know when you
posted that whether she had gotien the Tsoflurane from a
vetand was using it under the vet's supervision.” 10 which
Cummnins stated, “Correct.” But she also stated that she
still believed Lollar was using [soflurane illegally because
Lollar did not administer it using the nebulizer methud
listed on the label, and she believed that Loflar's off-label
use of the drug made the use illegal.

Regarding the cpisiotomy video, in her brief, Cimmins
cites a page from the record as evidence: that the captions
are true. That page of the testimony does oot contain any
evidence relating to the truth or falsity of ‘the caplions.
She asserts that Lollar admitted that the video shows
Lolar performing an cpisiotoray. But Lollar never denied
that the video showed her performing an episiotomy: her
disagreement was over the content of the captions.

Cummins admitted that she had never performed an
episiotomy and had never scen one done before she
witnessed the one in the video. But she felt that she was
gualified to say what was happening in the video because
she had “done some rescarch and asked questions™ before.
she published the captions. When asked why she believed
that the bat from the episiotomy vileu had died. she
adinitted that she just asyimed she had died because she
could not find Lhe bat after the sargery when she Jooked
for her.

+16 We have not found evidence in the record prbviug_h'y
a preponderance of the cvidence the truth of Cummins’s
captions that she added to the episiotomy video. Instead,
thé record shows that Cumming made” assuraptions that
she represenited as verifiable facts,

Lollar, on the other hand. produced evideace refuting the
content of the captions. Lollar testified that the bat did
not pass out from shock: that a person ¢annol use genersl
anesthesia on a bat for this type of procedure and thatshe
gave the bat appropriate pain reliel; that the bat jerked
a little because she did not waat 1o be heid, but sho: was
not convulsing; that no prolapse occurred; that she did.
not accidentally glue the bat's vagina shut; that the bat
pup was stillborn; that the mother bat did not die and
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was-eleased a fow weeks after the procedure; and that the
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method she follows is approved by her veterinariun.

Dr.:Jasvett, who trained Lollar to perform episiotomies,
testified that he bad seen ihe video and that the procedure
was “texibook” aud “as good as it can get.” He further
siaied that the anesthetic was used properly and that no
prolupse had occurred.

Dr. Mesyner testified that sbe had seen the video, that
the -episiotomy was done properly, and that she had
~absolutely” no criticisms of how the procedure had been
done. Applying the appropriate standard of review, this
evidence is lcgally sufficient to show that the captions that
Cumnmins added were false.

As for Cummins's other statements about LoHar's
trewtment of buts, Lollar testified that [soflurane
is commonly used in wildlife rehabilitation centers.
and wildlife rehabilitators can procure it through a
veterinarian that they work with. Tt is not a substance that
requites a DEA license. Lollar testified that the method
Climmins claimed was required to humanely. and legally
administer the drug is one that is not always recommended

ar used. She testified that the method that she uses is

one that researchers and professionals in the field use
and that the Awnerican Veierinary Medical Association
recommends the method of euthanasia she uses as a
humane method of euthanasia.

Dr. Jarrott tasiified that Lollar's use of Isoflurane to
euthanize bats is not illegal. Dr. Messner stated that
the; nebulizer meihod of administering Isoflurane is not
always recommended for bats and that she uses the same
method as Lollar. The evidencs is sufficiem to support
d finding that Cummins's defamatory staements abowt
Lollar's use of Isoflurane were faise.

Regarding Lollar's method of extracting teeth from bats,
Loliue \estified that the method she uscs is one that she
devcloped in conjunction with Dr. Jarrett. The method.
whick involves applying a powaerful topical anestbetic that
is- wsed for dental extractions, was developed to be as
pain fiwe as possible. She stated thar microbuts cannof be

vendered completely unconscious with general anesthesia
for the procedure "because the cone that you would use

to place over thar face to knock them out would be
directly in your way™ and “vou wouldn't be able to extract
the tooth.” She furcher stated that “lili takes, literally. a

second 10 extract the tooth,” but it takes five o fifteen.
minutes to cender a bat completely unconseious, so “it's
not practical and it's not safe to anesthetize 2 bat under
general anesthesia just to extract a tooth,”

*17 Dr. Jarrelt testified that in Texas, a person does
nigt have to be a licensed veterinarian to perform tooth
extractions or, episiotomies on bats. And he stated that
ke taught Lollar how to perform those procedures. He
Further stated that he had niever seen Lollar commit amnxal
cruelty.

Dr. Messner stated that she has never done a tooth
extraction on a bat but if she did, she would use the same
drug that Lollar uses. And she testified as Lollar hag that
a person cannot use 4 cone to-completely anesthetize a bat
in that situation: “you couldn't do it,... (IJt really extends
the procedure and it makes it difficult.” This evidence is
sufficient to support a finding that Cummins's statements
about Lollar’s sacgery on bats were false.

In a video played at trial ol Lollar bieating a bat, she
explained thiat her hands were dirty in the picture because
she had just rescued the bat, which was a starving orphan
bat. and she wanted to get bum cleaned up and treated:
as quickly as possible. Dr. Messner testified that when
she visited BWS, the (acility was clean, the clinic was
kept in sterile condition, and the room tlzat Lollar uses
for emergency surgeries was “absolutely” sanitary enough
for procedures. Kennedy testified that the faciity was
cleanied at least once u day. And Lollur testified that
Cummins's complaints resulted in her being investigated
by various law enforcement and go vernmerit. agencies; and
they all reported thatthey found no violations at BWS. We
hold that Lollar showed by legally sufficient evidence that
the statemenpts that Cumunins made that alloged animal
cruelty or neglect were untrue and thai Cummins did not
produce sufticient cvidence to prove that the statenents
were true. We overrule issuss theee and four as to these
stitements.

Cummins further challenges the judgment of defamation
as 1 three webpages that she was ordered to remove
in their entirety. In her argument regarding these three
pages. she specifically challenges only one statement on
cuch page. We cannot determine from the appellate record
whether these three statements appeared on those three
particular pages because the judgment does not explain
the contents of thosz pages and copies of the pages
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do not appear in the recgrd before us, Thus, although
the substance of thesc three statements was discussad at
triaf, we cannot tell from the appellate teeord whether
they appearcd un these particular webpages. As 1o the
substance of thesc three statements, however, the taal
court thid hear evidence about whether they were true or
defamutory,

One of thege three statements that Cummins argues was
neither false nor defamatory was this statement: “An
email from the warden to Texas Parks & Wildlife stating
thai buts are breeding in Lollar's facility.” Although we
did not find this particular statement on the copies of
Cummins's internet postings that were introduced at trial,
the parties did introduce evidence about whether wardens
with the Texas Parks and Wildlife Department had found
Lollar gailty of illegally breeding bats at BWS in violation
of its permit. As we explain in more detail below, the
enndence was sufficient 1o support a finding by the trial
court that Cummins's statements to that effect were false
-and defamatory.

f10] 1] The second &I these three slatements was,
“Amanda Lollas's 1994 manual which she wrote. She
stated that she euthanizes bats by freezing them to
death which is illegal and inhumane acecording to the
AVMA and bst expents.™ One of the three webpages
Cummins was ordered to remove iwiuded in the
URL “umanda_jolkar_1994_manual_original.pdf.” and
thie:parties agreed that Cummins posted a copy of a {994
numsyd that Lollar wrote abowt the care of bats. And
regardiess of whether this particular statement appeared
on this particular webpage, che cvidence showed that
Cummins dsserted multiple times on her website that
the: methind of euthanasia that Lollus recommended in
the'boek way illegal and inhumane according to experts.
This sitement was delamatory per se because it injured
Lollar in her profession, and Luollar introduced evidence
sutficient to support the judgment thar Cummins's
stitemerits on the subject were filse.

*18 The procedure 1hat Lollar recommended involved

putting a bat in u refrigerator to induce torpor and then
| placing the bat in the freezer. Curamins posted online
| thai by the time Lollar published her manual, experts had
krigwn for decades that the method she recommended was
inhumane. Cummins made a number of statements on this
subject. all suggesting that Lollar is incompetent, that she
.;xs not knowledgeable aboui the care of bats, and that her
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ignorance led her 10 use and recommend methods of care
that were cruel. Dr. Messner and Lollar testified thiat whife
today the procedure is not recommended except in cetiain
situations, at the time the book was written, the mcthod
Lollar recommended was not considered inhumane. And-
Lollar clarified that while the AVMA finds rapid freezing

of conscious animals to be inhumane, that was not

ihe method she had previously recommended, and the
method that she had recommended was one thai, at the
time, had been used by researchers for years. Cummins
introduced no evidence that contradicied Lollar's evidence:
on the matter. Thus, the evidence supports a finding
that Cummins’s statements about Lollar's recommended
cuthanasia methods were noi true.

112] The third statement was a description of an altered
photograph, which Cummmnins desceibed thusly: A photo
that defendants made of me. They took & photo of my
face and photoshopped semen on my face.” Although
the judgment did not specify that this statement had to
be removed, and we did not find in the record the page
on which she contends the statéroent appeared, she was
ordered in the judgment to remove a similar statement,
Cummins contends that the judgment was improper as
to this statement because the statement was not about
Lotllar, it was about a friend of Loflar's who Cummins
claimed had posted the picture. But the statement refers 1o
“defendants,” and thus this staterneat does refer to Lollar.
Moreover, the other stutemet about the photograph that
she was ordered to remove refers to “these people.” und
it is clear from its context. that Lollar is included in “these
people.” Thus, Cuinmins's argument that her sfatements
ubout this picture do not refer 1o Lollar and therefore
cannot support defamation is not persuasive. Cummiins
makes no other argliment challenging the judgment as to

her statements about, the photograph. 52

Other than these three statcments. Cummins does not
challenge the judgment as to any statenwots contained in
the three webpages that she was ordered to remove. >’
We theretore do not consider whether the evidence was
insuflicient to support a finding that the statements
contained on those pages were false or defamed Lolfar.
We overrule Curaming's third and fourth issues-as to the
webpages she was ordered to remove.

Allegations of Fraud
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Cumnlins made a number of statements alleging that
Lollar committed fraud. At one point, she stated that
Lollar took mowey that BWS had received from the
digsiution of another group and used it to buy a vehicle.
Cummins stated. “That money was supposed 1o go for
animals. This is what Lollar does with money that is given
to” BWS. In another statemeni, Cumnins stated that
Lollar bought 4 bag trom Walmart and told Cummins she
would use the bug and then return it. Cummins stated that
Lolfar “admitted to {Ciumins] with an evil laugh that she
ducs this frequéntly.”

(13} [14] These statements are defamatory per se

because, since Lollar tuns a nonprofit organization that
religs oo donativns as its primary source of income,
allegations of fraud injure her in her profession, Neither
Cumunins nor Lollar produced evidence that specifically
-discussed whether Loflar used money that BWS received
frony the dissolution of another organization 1o buy
4 vihicle. We therefore disagree with Cumming that
she proved that the statements were true. Cummins
argees that Lollar admitted this was true in her
deposition, but the only citation to the record she supplices
to support this statement is Cminmins's own internet
pasimgs. Furthermore, although Cuminins characterized
this. statement. as an example of Lollar's misusing funds,
even jf the money received was usad to buy a vehitcle,
pothing in thie record mdicates that this was an impreper
use of the funds.

“19 [15] As to the second statement, neither Cumnyins

nor Lollar provided testifony or other evidence about

whether Lollar regulasly buys merchandise, uses it, and.

thex returns it. Thus, this statement was not proven either
true. Or false. But even were we to hold that Lollar had
the burden b0 prove the falsity ¢f the stateiment and it
was thirefore error for the trial court to order Cunumins
W femove it, Cummins has not shown bhow she ‘was
hatmed. particularly when, even without this statement,
the. evidence is sufficient 10 support the judgment on
Lollas® defamation claim.

Furtheimore, the poiet of the statementis~~that Lollar
uses donations fraudulently and engages in unethical
belnvior—~was  something  that both  sides  briefly
pravenied westimony on. Cummins testified that she told
‘thef IRS thai Loflar was gsing BWS as her own personal
plgp:_s hank and was paying: personal expeuses out of the

pedprofit. She acknowledged that she had posted online
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that Lollar was commaitting fraud on the BWS donors and
that she knew that she was accusing Lollar of a cime when
she said that,

Cummins also acknowledged that. she hud posted online

an accusaton that Lollar might bz collecting weifare.
illegally. Afver seeing a police report stating thay Lollar

had called the policc for a “welfare check.” Cammins
stated ouline that Lollar owncd property. and so if Lollar

was receiving welfare, she was doing so iltegally. Commins

stated that she thought the report—which included a note

that said, "WUnable te locate. Building locked™—indicated

that Lollar had lost a welfare payment check and catled

the police to help her find it.

Cumnins explained that she “belicved (the statement] to
be truc” when she sard i, that she posted it because
she’ wanted to show what type of person Lollar ig, (hat
she said it was only illegal “i” Lollar was collecting
wellare, and that she took the post down a few hours
later when someone online pointed out that the repori
probably meant that Lollar had asked the potice to check
on someone's weilate,

Lollar testified that she was not paying her persona)
expenses out of the nonprofit corporation and that it was
not trug that she had committed fra:id on her donors, She-
also stated that she had never corumitted welfare fraud
and had never been on welfare. The tria) court as the fact
Ginder could believe Lollar and disbelieve Cummins,g“

and, accordingly, Lollar provided sufficient evidenco that
Cummins's statements thai Lollar commits fraud on her
danors, uses BWS funds for her personal expenses, and
was committing welfase {raud were false. ’

Allegations tI;im Lollgr Violited a Law,._Rulc‘. Reguldtion,
of Standards )

[16] {17] Cumnuns madc numerous stitements alleging
or implying that Lollar violated a law, rule, standard,
or regulation. In several of the statercenis Curnmins was
ordered to remove, she stated that Lollar had been found
guilty of itlegally breeding. bats in violation of BWS's
wildlife permit. Lollar testified, however, that she does
notintentionally breed or intentionally allow breeding of
the bats in the captive colonies at BWS. BWS neuters the
frunt bats as soon as they come of age. but nevertheless,
breeding does occasionally take place accidentally because
“[yJou can’t monitor éxacily when they're ready to be
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neueered.” Lollar also stated that she does not have a
permit for the fruit bat captive colony because none is
required. Thus, if BWS had been breeding fruit bats, it
wowd not have been in violation of a permii.

=20 Lollar acknowledged thai BWS's permit for its
inssclivorous coloay prohibits “propagating” bats, but
Loltar also testified that accidental breeding is not
cousidered a violation of the permit. She stated Lhat she
had:allowed breeding in the colony for a study done with
a hat conservation. organization but had done so with the
knowledie of the Texas Parks and Wildlife Department.

Loliar further testificd that game wardens from the Texas
Parks and Wildtife Department had inspected the facility
and. found no violations from. accidental breeding. She
stafed that BWS 1s periodically inspected by the ageucy
and that BWS has always passed those inspections, it has
ricver been reprimunded by the agency. and its permit has
never been suspended or revoked.

Lollar -introduced info evidence a copy of an email
exchange that Cummins had had with 2 stall attomey at
Téxas Parks and Wildlife, who informed Commans that
the agency had found no Wolations by BWS. In that email,
theutiorney stated, :

This is to advie you that
TPWD wall not be responding to
aay further allegations from you
doncerning Amanda Lollar's facility.
Representatives of the TPWD Law
Enforcement Division visited that
facility earlier this year and found
no violations of the Texas wildlife
taws. Inlight of this information and
your bascless claim that someorie at
TPW D is libeling and defaming you,
we consider the matter closed.

L.oMatr thus produced evidence that she is not breeding the
butv in the BWS captive colonies in violation of BWS's
pegmit and that she has not beea found guilty of violating
the permit.

Lottar testified that Cummins's statements werc damaging
because it the bat conservation commuity believed that
shé had been found to bé illegally breeding bats, “[njo
ont would want to work with [her) anymore.” But

lzws
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stalements was unngcessary because the statements are
defamatory per se. They accuse Lollar of intentionally
violating the permit under which BWS is allowed to keep
ong of its cuplive colonies, and they therefore damage her
in her profession.

Cummins did not produce any proof that Lollar had
been found guilty of causing BWS to violate its permit
or that Lollar was incorrect in her understanding that
acgidental breeding is not a violation of the permit.
Uader the applicable standard of review, this evidetice
is sufficient to support the trial courts {inding that
Cummins's statements about Lollar's breeding bats and
thereby violating BWS's permit were false.

18} Cummins was also ordered to remove stalements
that BWS had been forced by the health department to
leave the city because of all the complaints to the city
and the health department, and that the city had had to

gut the building BWS had been in, % These sigltements
are defamatory per se because they mjure Lollar in ber
profession by implying that BWS's premises, where it
houses captive bat colonies and out of which it runs
its operation (arid where it performs certain emergency
treatment on bats), was so ill-kept that it rendered the
building it was in unfit foc habitation. *

[19] Lollar testified that there wds no truth to- these
statements. Lollar sold the bottom half of a building she

owned, and unneeded items had been stored in that part

of the building, so she contacted a local church to come

pick up those items. The new owner moved those boxes to

the sidewalk far the church to pick up from.there. Lollar

stated thar the police had been called by someone who

was unhappy that Ure boxes were out on the sidewalk.

Lollar stated that the police mistakenly wrote up that

the building was being gutted. The police report was not

included in the record, but Lollar testified that there was

no truth 10 Cummins's statement that BWS was evicted

from the building or asked to Jeave the city.

*21 Lollar's testonony is evidence that the police report
stated the building was being gutted. The defamatory
nature of Cummins's statement arose, however, not from
her publishing the contents of the report—that the
building was being gutted—but from her embellishment
of the report. She stated that the health departmient
forved Lollar and BWS out of the building and thai
the building was in such poor condition that it had o
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be gusted and cleaned. Lollar's testimany was evidence
that; Cummins's statemients to that eflect were false, and
Cumniinss provided no evidence to the coutrary.

{20f Crunmins made various statements about Lollar that
refated to rabies. She stated that Lollar was breaking
the jaw by illeguily obtuining human and animal rabies
vaceinations and that Lollar had teld her that the place
where she buys her cabie¥ vaceiiie thinks she is a doctor.
She' statgd that Lollar exposed inlerns to rabies by not
chiecking their vaccination cards to ensure that theéy had
been vaceinated aguinst rabies. And she stated that Lollar
handled rabid bats with her bare hands, implyiag that
Lollar was net knowledgeable about how to handle bats.
These statemnents are defamatory per s because they
infuve Lollar in her profession, and at least one accuses
Lollar of acrime.

124 To preve the truth of these statemenis. Cummins
relied primarily on her own testimony. She stated that
w‘hiic ut BWS, Lollar told her to give rabies vaccinations
to bats. Cummins stated that only veterinarians can
administer rabies vaccinaiions to bats. Cummins testified
that she reported Lollar to -authorities for giving
vactinations-to bats. And she reported Lollar for having
the-human rabies vaccine because only a doctor, nurse,
veterinarian, ox pharmacist may have it, She further stated
that Loilar told her that she buys the vaccine from a
company thay thinks she is a doctor,

Cumumnins alsu testified that while she was there. Lollar
held a possibly rabid bat in her bare hands, She testified
that she had always been told never to touch a hat with
bere. hands, somcthing “all the bat experts know,™ ‘yel
Lokar told her not to wear gloves when handling bats. She
stated it Lollar told her to hold-in her bare hands a bat
thas Lollar said was possibly rabid. Cummins testified that
neither Lollar not anyone else asked for proof that she
had buen vaccinated against rabies before beginning her
:merushlp

Ka) Singleton testifiec that Lollar did. wot tell her 1o give
rahics vaccinations to bats. She also tesiified that although
she had proof of pre-cxposure rubies vaccination. Lollar
did hot ask to see it.

Lojlar stated that she buys the human rabies vaccination
but not the animal rabies vaccine. She used to buy the
amr\al rabies vaccive when it was legal for anyone to
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do. s0, but at some point in the 1990s, the law chianged.
Lollar stated that she is not violating the law by buying
the human rabies vaccine. She buys it trom. Novartiy,-
Novartis knows she is not a doctor, and she works with a
veterinarian to legally abtain the vaccine.

Lollar explained that BWS works with 4 nurse practitiofer-
at a doctor’s office who accepts people from BWS on
a walk-m basis and who administers the vaccine if
needed. She stated that despite the implication from
Cummins's posting (hat Lollar personally administers
rabies vaceinations to people, she does not. Lollar will give
the vaccine ta interns 1o take to a nurse for administering
it, but she does not administer vaccines herself.

Regarding holding rabid bats with her bare hands, Lollar
testified that while Cununins was there, she hebd in her
bare hands a bat pup thar wus displaying veusological
symptlons that could be the result pf either pesticide
poisoning or rabies, and that she was about to euthanize
the bat because “[tJhere is no way to save an animal
that has those type of symptoms.” She explained that
bat pups do not have tecth that can break the skin, so
“any researcher might”™ hold such a pup in his or her
bare hands. According to Lollar, *(i]t's done all the time®”
by researchers, biologists, and other professionals. Lollar
testified that Cumminsmade the statements about holding
rabid bats in her bare hands 1o make it look like Lollar did
nol know -what she was doing, how “dumb {she) must: be.
1o be holding 4 rabid bat in fher} bare hand.”

*22 Regarding praof of rabies vaccinations, Lollar
testficd that someone else with BWS coordinuted the
internships the year that Cununins came. Thatperson was
in charge of checking for proof of rabies vaccinations,
angd Lollar eelicd on that person's report about whether
the interns were vaccinated. Lollar staied that no one éan
atrend 2 BWS internship who has not been vaccinated.

Lollar further testified that because of Cummins's
allegations, the Ceuters for Disease Control called every
intern who had been at BWS in the previous year to
talk to them about their experience and about BWS
protovols. The only chauge to. BWS protdcals that the
CDC recommended was that instead of recommending
that interns wear gloves when working with certein
species. BWS should make it a requirement.
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Dotothy Hyatt, vice president of BWS, testified that she
had’ never seen Lollar administer a rabies vaccine to
a -person. Kennedy testified thai she received a rabies
booster shot while on her tast day at BWS, but it was
administered to ber at a doctar's office, noi at BWS.
Nobody at BWS administered any type of shot to her.
Lollar-testified that she provided the vaccine to Kennedy
butdid notadminister it to ber—she drove Kennedy 10 the
doctor's office where the nurse practitioner administered
it

Kenncdy staied that she was reqitired o show proof of
pre-exposure rahics vaccination shots before beginning
her - internship. And Kc‘fmed’y testitied that she was
entouraged to wear gloves while at BWS, We hold that
the .evidence was sufficient 1o support the trial court's
judgment as 1o statements relating 1 Lollar's violations
of rules, regulutions, standards, and Jaws. and we overrule
Cumrnins's third and fourth issues as io these statements.

Also under these issues, Cummins argues that she
was not given a copy of the specific statemenis that
Lollar and BWS alieged to be defamatory unvil afier
the trial had concluded, and she could not defend the
statements without kndwing what they weie before trial.
Loliar's petition stated that Cummins had posted and
was conlinuing to post defamatory statenments about

Leliar online. If Lollars pcuuon did not provide enough
specificity for Cummins to know which statements
she; would need to defend. Cummins could have
specially excepted to Lollar's petition. Y No such special
creeplions appear in the appellate record.

Cunmins also challeriges the judgment against her based
on staiements . exbibit 18, which she cpniends were
made by people other than her.’ Aad she coraplains
thay the exhibits containing the defamatory statements
wors never- authenticated. Cumimins did not object 10 a
Jack of suthentication «u to exhibit 18. % And, us she
ack nowdedges, nose of the statements she was ordered to
remove were in exhibit 18.

Cuinpring did object that exhibit 17 had not bheen
auﬂncnncatcd and the trial eourt overruled her objections.
Buf shé daes not argue, not do we discern from our
review of the record, how she was harmed by any
lack of authentication of the exhibits contgining the
statements, partcularly when she sdmitted at trial to
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making the statements in the exhibits that we have held

were defamatory per se. 9

Finally, Cummins complgins abaut beig ordered to
remove the episiolomy video. She asserts that ‘she
introduced evidence that the video is the truth apd that
Lollar did not produce evidence that the contents of the
video are false because Lollar admits that it is a video
of her performing an episiotomy. As we stated above,
Lollar did not contend: that the video does not depict
her performing an episiotomy. She complained that the
video's editing and the added captions were defamatory.
And, as stated above, Lollar proved that the video us
edited by Cummins was false. We overrule the remainder
of Cumming's third and tourth issues.

3. Detaination Damages

“23 In her fifth issue, Cummins challenges the damages
awarded 1o Lollar for defumation. Regarding the
compensatory damages award, her argument under this
issue relates only 1o economic dumages, and she includes
no argiment relating to any of the other categories of
damages that Lollar pled and introduced -eviderice on.
We overrule her issue as to the compensatory damages

award. W

As for exemplary damages. Cummins argues that Lollar
produced no evidence of malice and lhai Cummins's
net ‘worth does not support the amouni of the award,
Cummins did not timely raise these complain (s in the tiial
court, but bocausce this is an appeal from a bench trial and
these complasmts challenge the sufficiency of the cvidence

to support the damages award, she may ranse them f0| the

first time on appeal. 10§

Chapter 41 of the civil practice and remedies cade provides
that generally, to be entitled to exemplary damages, a
plaiatiff must show fraud, malice or gross neglipence
by clear dnd cunvmung evidence. ' “Malice” in this
coniext meuns "2 specific intent by the defendant to
cause substantial injury or harm o the claimant.” %
Additionally, in a defamution action, the Texas Supreme
Court has stated that “recovery of exemplary damages
are. approprigtely within the guarantees of the First
Amendinent if the plaintiff proves by clear and convincing
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evidence that the defendant published the defamatory
statement with actual malice.” !

Clear and convincing evidence 18 that measure or degree
of proof that wiil produce in the mind of the tricr of facta
fum Bedicf or conviction as to the truth of the allegations

sought to be established. ' Thisintermediate standard of
proof falls beiween the preponderance standard of proof
apphmblc to most civil pro‘.cedmg,a and the reasonable
doubt standwrd of proof applicable to most ctiminal
proceedtings. ' While the proof must be of a heavier
weight than morely the greater weight of the credible
eviflence, there is no requirement that the evidence be
uneqmvocai or uandisputed. W7 10 evaluating the legal
sufficiency of the evidence under the clear and coavincing
standard of prool, we must determine whether the
evidence is sucli that a factlinder could reasonably form.a

firmn belief ot conviction that its findiog was true. '9°

*24 1n determining what amount of exemplary damages
1o award, the factfinder must consider any evidence
relating to (1) the nature'ol the wrong; (2) the character
of the coiiduct involved; (3) the degree of the wrongdoer's
culpatility; (4) the situation and sensibiliies of the parties
concerned; (§) the extent to which such conduct offends
a public sensc of justice and prapricty; and (6) ﬂu,

defendani's net worth. ' 1n our review of an ex'mplary
damages award, we must state our reasons. for uphoiding
or disturbing the award, and we must “address the
evideacs or lack of evidence with specificity, as it relates to
the:liability for or amount of excmplary damages. in Jight

of the requirements of™ chapter 41. ''¢

{23} The evidence at triad did not show that Cummins had
& picgative nef worth, Affer the judginent wuy rendered,
Cummins filed an affidavit of in&:ligcncyf and aftér a
contest, the trial court.found that she was indigent. But
!hat finding, made after the trial courc had rendered
jud‘.mem and Cummins had filed her notice of appeal,
was irrelevant to the trial court's earkier determination of
theé exemplary damages award. Furthermore, the other
factors that a coust considers in awarding exempluary
damages weigh in favor of the award. As we have
engiainad, Cummins posted a flood of statements about
LoHar accusing het of all manner of serious wrongdoings,
ineiuding crunes, and she published her staiements 1o as
wide of an audjence as she could, including to stumerous

o)
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law enforcement agencies. The statements were designed
to ruin Lollar's professionaf and personal reputation
locally and nationally,

23} Asto Cummins's argument that Lollar Failed toShow
malice, we disagree. From our review of the record, '
Lollar showed by. clear and convincing cvidence that
Cummins acted with malice as that term s used in
chapter 41 and with the actual malice required undet the
First Amendment. The evidence supports a conclusion
that Cumimins engaged in.a persistent, calculated attack
on Lollar with the mtention to ruin both Lollar's life's
work and her credibility and standing in the animal
rehabilitation community. Cumnyins posted innumerable
derogatory statements about Lollar impugning ler
honesty and her competency, and she repeatedly and
relentlessly  reported Lollar to multiple government
agencies. The comments she made about Lollar leave no
doubt that she had a speciiic intent ta cause substantial
injury or harm to Lollar.

Clear and convincing evidence also supports a. finding
that Cummins published statements on the internet with
actual malice. For example, with regard to Cummins's
stutements about Lollar's dogs, the evideiice supported
a finding that Cunuunins was not telling the truth, The
trial court's determination that Cumntnins was noj credible
was rcasonable, and, consequently, we are required to
ignare her festimony in reviewing the trial court’s actual
malice determination.'*2 And if the triai court believed
thar Lollar, Kennedy, Dr. Messner, and Dr. Jarrew were
telling the truth-—and it is clear that the court did helieve
that—--that determination was reasonable, Their testimony
supports the trial court's determination that Cummins
published fabricated statements about Lollar's care of her
dogs, and, thus, that the statements were made with ac.tual
malice.

*25 Regarding the episiotomy video, Cummins offered
only her own testimony 10 support her version. Lollar, Dr.
Jarzett, and Dr. Messner all agrecd that what Cummins
said occurred did not happen. Cuminins admitted that she
had never performed an episiotomy on a bat before, and
therefore she had no basis for asserting as fact what was
at best speculation and at worst 10tal fabrication. But she

posted her version as fact, not speculation, and then she

spreag her version as far and wide as she possibly could.
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The evidence further supports a conclusion that Cummins
tolti. as many people as she could that Lollar was
illagally. obtaining and administering Isoflurane and
rabies vaccings and that she made these representations
as facts, despite the fact that they were bascd only on
assumptions she had made based on limited information.
As with Curomins's statenients ybout Lollar's dogs. the
trial court's determitation that Curamiins was not credible
was. a reasonable one, and iherefore we are required to
ignowe her testimony in our review. And the irial court's
determination that Lollar. Dr. Jarrett, anid Dr. Messner
were vredible was a reasonable ane. Based on these
credibility deicrminations, clear and convincing evidence
supports the trial court's findidg that Cummins made
statements on these matters with actual malice. We hold
that the secord supports a finding of malice—hoth of the
malice required for an award of excriplary damages voder
Texas law and of actual malice as required for an award

.of exemplary damagés in defamation actions. s

28] And finally under this issue, Cumumins argues that
the exem plary damages award was excessive. She includes
no argument. about why the dumages were excessive other
than to say that-exemplary damages must be reasonably
proportional 1o actual damages. She does not include any
grgiiment or citalions to authority about why the damages
were not proportional in this ¢case. 14 Furtber, she didnot

timely raise this complgint in the trial court. ' 5

And although the civil practice and remedies code's cap
‘on ¢xemplary darhages 16 applicd to this case, Cummins
neither timely raised this issue in the trial court nor argued
on appeal that the tnal court did not apply the cap or
did not apply it correetly. This court has held that the
stéfutory cap is an affirmatve defense thar must be pled
giid proved. M7 An argument that the trial court failed to
praperiy apply the cap is therefore not a complaint about
the sufficiency of the evidence 1o support the award. ! 18
. B_L:CrtuS&. Cummins neither preserved any complaint about
the cups in the trial court nor raised the issue on appeal, we
may not consider whether the trial court failed to propérly
apply the cap, We overtule Cummins's fifsh issue as to the
- exgmiplaty damages sward.

*26 {251 Cuwimins included one other argument relating

to ‘the part of the relief uwarded tw Lollar on her

defumnation claim, In one sentence in the summary of her
cargument, Cummins challenges the permanent injunciion
A
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included in the judgment. She arguds, with no citation to
authonity, U9 bt “[tThie court's order is alsv overly broad.

I¥ contains prior restraint (,] which is unconstitwtionai.”

The judgmeni ordered that “Cummins be permaneatly
enjoined”  and "ORDERED to immediately and
permatiently remove fiom the internet” statements. that
appeared on specificd web pages. To the cxtent that
the tria) court's order required Cummins to remove the
statements that the coust ruled were defamatory, the order
is constitutional, 120 Byt the order is uncoustitutional to
the extent that it permanently enjoins Cwnmins from
making similar statements in the future, 12 Though
Cumnuns can be held responsible for any defamatory
statements she may make about Lollar in the future, the
trial court could not issue an order probibiting her fiom
making them. Thus, to the extent that the order may
be read to permanently cajoin Climming from making
simifar statements in the future, we susiain Commins's
challenge to that part of the judgment. 122 Wwe overrule the
remnainder of her fifth issuc.

B. Breach of Confract

Cummins's lust-five issues challenge the judgment for BWS
for breach of contract:

6. Did Appeliees present “more than a scintifta® of
evidence that any of Appetlant's actions meet allvir of
the followiny criteria for breach of contraci?

a. The-existence of a valid contract;

b. Performance or tendered performance by the
plaintiff,

¢. Breach of the-contract by the defepdant; and

d. Damages sustained by the plaintiffs as a result of
the breach.

7. Did the trial court err in granting Appelice's
[judgment] against Appellant for breach of contract?

8. Were Plaintiffs entitled to attorneys' fees?
9. Were attorneys' fees reasonable?

10. Were Plaintiffs entitled to liquidated dumages? Were
they reasonadle, legal? '
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Cuitmnins argues thit the award of damages on the breach
of: Gontract claim was ervontous as to both Lollar and
BWS. bit the contragt was with BWS and not with
Lollar, and the trial court, founnd that Cummigs should
pay only BWS $10,000 for hreach of contract. And only

BWS sought and was awarded damages for bresch of

contract. We therefore overrule as moot Cumemins's issues
challenging the breach of contract claim. as to Lollar.

1. Sufficiency of the Evidence to Show Breach of Contract

126} In hersixth issue, Cumniins argues that BWS did not

prisent legally sufficient evidence to support the breach
of contract clamm. To prove a breach of contract claim,
a plaintiT must show “the existence of a valid contraci,
peﬁfor.mm.n,ce- or tendered performance by the plaintifY,
breach of the contract by the defendant. and damsges

sustained as a result of the breach.” ' Cummins argues
that BWS produced no evidence that she breached the
comtract and showed no proof of actual or financial
datnages.

*27 In s petition, BWS alleged that Cunnnins breached
a provision. in the intern contract that stated, ™It is
undersiood ihar the data, techniques, resulis, and anecdatal
infgrmation provided to Tramee during their infernship
at BWS is propriciary and is copyrighted as intellecctual
L - DTS Tonminan
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The breach of contract was a producing cause of actual
damages to [BWS].

Lollar testificd that she belicved the contract prohibited
Cummins from sharing without pemsission any
photographs or videos taken at BWS, regardless of
whether the photographs disclosed data. techniques,
results, or unecdotal information provided to the intérn.
Much of Lollar’s testimony at trial about Cummins's
publishing of photos and videos related to whether
Cuimmins had permission to publish them and not
on whether they included information covered by the
contract.

By its language, however, the provision applies only 10
data, techniques, results, and anscdotal information given
1o intern trainees. Jt does not prohibit a trainee fiom
publishing photagraphs or videos that the trainee took
a1 BWS if those pictures or videos do nof fall within the
categories protecied by the contract. 124 ag acknowledged
by Lollarin her testimony, not all of the pictures taken and
posted by Cumniins contained propyietary of copyrighted
information.

BWS muroduced into evidence various photographs and
four videos that Cummins took during her time at BWS
and later posted antine. The fust video was of an old Pallid
bat. Lollar did not explain what data, techniques, results,
or anecdotal information this videe disclosed, and in our
review oof thevideo. we enuld innt deterniine thar-anv aiich
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do uut appeas in the recard before us. Thus, although  ignoruncs led her 16 use and recommend methods of-care

the substance of these three was di 8t that 1. Dr. Messnar and Lollar teatified that while
trial, W cannot tell from the appellate record whether  today the procedurc is not recommended except in certain
they d un these icuk bpages. As to the  situations, at the time the book was written, the method

substance of these three statements, however, the trial  Lollar ded wvas not i And-

court did hear evideno: about whether they were true or
defimatory,

Que of these three staements that Cummins argues wus
neither false nor defamatory was this statement: ~An
eoui! from the warden to Texas Parks & Wildtifc stating
thai buis arc breeding in Lollars facility.” Although we
.did’not find this particular slatement on the copies of
Cummins’s jnternet postings thai were introduced a1 trial,
the parties did introduce cvidence about whether wardens
with the Texas Patks and Wildlife Department had found
Lotlar guilty of ilicgatly breeding bats at BWS'in violatiun
of its permil. As we explain in more detsid below, the
evidence was sufficient 1o suppart a finding by the tria)
court thal Cummins's statements 1o that effect were false
and defumatory.

no {H} Thr second OF these threc siatenents was,

“Amnnds Lollars 1994 manual which she wrote, She
stated that she cuthonizes bate by freczing them to
death which is iHegal and inhumare according to the
AVMA and bat expens.” Ore of the three webpages
Cuimins was ordered to remove jocluded io the
URL. “umanda_Jailar_1994_manual_original.pdt.” sod
the:parties agreed that Curamins posted a copy of v 1994
nmunuyl that Lotlar wrote about the vare of bats, And
regardless of whetticr this particular sustement sppeared
on ihis particular webpage, the cevidence showed that
Cimmins asserted multipke times on her wabsite thar
the:mettid of euth that Lollas in
the'haok was itlegal and inhumane according t cxperts.
This statement vins defamatory per se because it injured
Loflar in her professivg, nad Lollar introduced evidenes
sufficient o support the judgment Lhar Curning's
ststemenls on the subjest were false.

*18 The 1bar Loliar involved
putting a bat in u retrigemtor to induce torpor and then
plicing the bat in the freezer. Cumming posted online
that by the lime Loltar published her manual, experts bad
known for docedes thit the methad she recommended was
inhumane. Cummins nadc a number of statements on this
subject. all that Lotlar is . that she
is not knowledgeable uboul the case of bats. and that her

Lollar clarified that while the AVMA Gndi rapid freezing
of conscious animals 10 be inhumane, that was not
the niethod she had previously recommended, and “tbe
method that she had recommended was one thai, at. the
time, hud been used by rescarchers for years. Cummins
i no cvidenee that dicted Lollars evid

on the matter. Thus. the evidence supports a finding
that Cummins's about Lollar's

cuthanasia methods were ant truc.

I82] The third statement was a description of an sitered
phutograph, which Cuminins described thusly: “A phote
that defendunts made of me. They took u photo of my
face und photoshopped semen on my face.” Altbough
the judgment did not specify that this siatement had to
be removed, and wo did not find in the record the puge
on which she contends the stalement appeared, she was
ordered in the judgment to remove & sinilar siatement,
Cummins ds thay the ji was i per 6s
10 this statement because the statcmen) was nnt about
Loltar, it was about a friend of Lollar's who Cumming
claimed had posted the picture. But the statencat refers 1o
“defendants,” and thus this statement does refer to Lollar.
M . the other ubout the ph thut

she was ordered 10 remuve cclers (0 “these people.” and A

it is cleur fram its context that Loltar is incloded in “thece
people.” Thus, Cunmins's argument {hat her statements
ubout this picture do not refer 10 Loller and therefore
cannot support defamation is not persuasive. Cummins
makes no other ing the jud, asto

her statements aboul the photograph. 2

Other than these three statcments, Cummins does nal
challenge the jud, as o any ined in
the three webpages that she was ordered to reroove. ™
We tberefore do noi cousider whether the evidence was
insufficicnt 1o support a finding that the statements
contained on those pages wese fudse or defaned Loltar,
We overrule Curmininy's third and fourth issues ns 1o the
webpages she was vrdered to remove,

Allegations of Fruud
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do not appear ir: the recqrd before us, Thus, although
the substance of these three ‘statements was discussad at
triaf, we cunnot tell from the appellate record whether
they appearcd on these particular webpages. As o the
substance of these three statements, however, the trial
court did hear evidence about whether they were true or
defamutory,

Oune of these three statements that Cummins argues was
neither false nor defamatory was this statement: “An
emuil from the warden to Texas Parks & Wildlifc stating
that buis are breeding in Lollar's facility.” Although we
did’not find this particular statement on the copies of
Cummins's internet postings that were introduced at trial,
the parties did introdute evidence about wheiher wardens
with the Texas Parks and Wildlife Department had found
Lollar gailty of illegally breeding bats at BWS in violation
of its permif. As we explain in more detail below, the
evidence was sufficient o support a finding by the trial
court that Cummins's statements to that effect were false
-and defamatory.

[10]  {11) The second GF these ihrec statements was,

“Amanda Lollar's 1994 manual which she wrote. She
stated thai she euthanizes bats by freezing them fo
deéath which is illegal and inhumane aceording 10 the
AVMA and bat experts.” Ooe of the three webpages
Cummins was ordered to remove iwiuded in the
URL “uamanda_joltar_1994_manual_original.pdf” aod
thie: partics agreed that Cumming posted a copy of a 1994
manuyl that Lollar wrote abowt the care of bats. And
regardiess of whether this particular statement appeared
on this particular webpage, the cvidence showed that
Cummins dsserted multiple times on her website that
the: methnd of euthanasia that Lollar recommended in
ific'book way jllegal and inhumane according to experts.
This stement was defamatory psr se because it injured
Lollar in her profession, and Lollar introduced evidence
sufficient to support the jodgment that Cummins's
stitemerits on the subject were filse.

*18 The pracedure thar Lollar recommended involved
putting a bat in u refrigerator to induce torpor and then
placing the bat in the freezer. Curumins posted oniine
that by the time Lollar published her manual, experts had
ksiown for decades that the method she recommended was
whumanc, Cummins made a number of statements on this
subject. oll suggesting that Lollar is incompetent, that she
'i,s not knowledgeable aboui the care of bais, and that her

ignorance ied her to use and recommend methods of care
that were crucl. Dr. Messiier and Lollar testified tliat while
today the procedure is not recommended except in cetlain
situations, at the time the book was written, the method
Lollar recommended was not considered inhumane. And-
Lollar clarified that while the AVMA finds rapid freezing

of conscious animals to be inhumane, that was not

ihe method she had previously recommended, and the
method that she had recommended was one that, at the
time, had been used by researchers for years. Cunimins
introduced no vvidence that contradicted Lollar's evidence
on the matter. Thus, the evidence supports a finding
that Cummins's statements about Lollat's recommended
cuthanasia methods were noi true.

112) The third statement was a description of an altered
photograph, which Cummnins descgibed thusly: “A photo
that defeudants made of me. They 100k & photo of my
face and photoshopped semen on my face.” Although
the judgment did not specify thai this staiement had to
be removed, and we did not find in the record the page
on which she contends the statément appeared, she was
ordered in the judgment to remove a similar statement.
Cummins contends thai the judgment was improper as
o this statement because the statement was not about
Lollar, it was about a friend of Loflar's who Cummins
claimed had posted the picture. But the statement refers to
“defendants,” and thus this stasernent does refer to Lollar.
Moreover, the other statemens about the photograph that

she was ordered to remove refers to “these people.” and

it is clear from its context that Lollar is.incladed in “these
people.” Thus, Cummins's asgument that her statements
about this picture do not refer to Lollar and therefore
cannot support defamation is not persuasive. Cummins
makes no other argument challenging the judgment as to

her statements about the photograph. 92

Other than these ihree statcments. Cummins does not
challenge the judgment as to any statenwots contained in

the three webpages that she was ordered 10 remove.”?
We therefore do not consider whether the evidence was
insuflicient to support a finding that the statements
containcd on those pages were false or defamed Lolfar.
We overrule. Cumiming's third and fourth issues as to the
webpages she was ordered to remove.

Allegations of Fraud
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Cumniins made a number of statements alleging that
Lollar committed fraud. At one point.' she stated that
Lollar took moucy that BWS had received from the
digsdiution of another group and used it to buy a vehicle.
Cummins stated. “That money was supposed 1o go tor
animals. This is what Lollar does with money that is given
to” BWS. fn another statemeni, Cummins siated that
Lollar bought 4 bag from Walmart and told Cunmmins she
would usz the bag and then retarn it. Cunmins stated that
Loltar “admitted to {Civmmins} with an evil laugh that she
duoes this frequéntly.”

(13} [14] These statements are defamatory per se
becsuse, since Lollar runs a nonprofit organization that
religs oo donations as its primary source of incom,
allegations of fraud injure her in her profession. Neither
Cummins nor Lollar produced evidence thart specifically
-discussed whether Lollar used money that BWS received
from the dissolution of another organization to buy
4 vehicle. We therefore disagree with Curnming that
she proved that the statements were true. Cummins
argues that Lollar admitted this was true in her
deposition, but the only citation to the record she supplies
to support this statement is Cuinmins's own internei
pastings. Furthermone, although Cumimins characterized
this. statement s an exammple of Lollar's misusing funds,
ever if the money received was usad to buy a vehicle,
pothing in the record indicates that this was an impreper
use of the funds.

*19 [15] As to the second stutement,. neither Cumnyins
nor Lollar provided testifiony or other evidence about
whethes Lollar regulasly buys merchandise, uses it, and.
then returns it. Thus, this statement was not proven either
true. Or false. Bur even were we to hold that Lollar had
the burden ko prove the falsity of the stateivent and it
was thizefore error for the trial court to order Cununins
w gemove it, Cummins has not shown bow she ‘was
hatmed. particularly when, even without this statement,
the: evidence is sufficient to support the judgment on
Loklas’s defamation claim.

Furtheimore, the poirt of the statemenise-that Lollar
uses doniitions {raudulently and engages in unethical
beHavior-—was  something that both sides  bricfly
presentea] testimony on. Cummins testified that she told
'Lhef IRS thai Lollar was using BWS as her own personal
pigzg,y hank and was paying: peisonal expeuses out of the
,::;l;l(ﬂ;)L?fOi’it. She acknowledged. that she had posted. online

that Lollar was comtunitting fraud on the BWS donors and
that she knew that she was accusing Lollar of a cime whien
she said that,

Cummins also acknowledged that she had posted online
an accusation that Lollar might be collecting welfare.
illegally. After secing a police report stating that Lollar
had called the policc for a “welfare check,” Cammins
stated online that Lollar owned property. and so if Lollar
was receiving welfare, she was doing so iltegally. Cumnins
stated that she thought the report—which included anote
that said, "WUnable te locate. Building locked™—indicated
that Lofllar had lost 4 welfare payment check and catled
the police to help her find it.

Cummins explained that she “belicved [the statement] to
be truc” when she said it, that she posted it because
she wanted to show what type of person Lollar is, (hat
she said it was only illagal “i” Lollar was collecting
wellare, and that she took the post down a few hours
later when someone online pointed out that the repori
probably meant that Lollar had. asked the potice to check
on someone's wellate,

Lollar testified that she was not paying her personal
expenses out of the nonprofit corporation and that it was
not true that she had committed fra:ud on her donors, She:
also stated that she had never conxmitted welfare fraud
and bad never been on welfare. The trial court as the fact

finder could believe Lollar and disbelieve Cummins,g"

and, accordingly, Lollar provided sufficient evidence that
Cumniins's statements that Lollar commits fraud on her
donors, uses BWS funds for her personal ¢xpenses, and
was committing welfase lraud were false. '

Allegarions tl;i'(ll Lollar Violated a Law, Rule, Reguldtion,
or Standards ) ‘

ft6] {171 Cummins made numerous stitements alleging
or implying that Lollar violated a law, rule, standard,
or regulation. In several of the sfatermmenis Curninins was
ordered to remove, she stated that Lollar had been found
guifty of illegally bresding. bats in violation of BWH's.
wildlife permit. Lollar testified, however, that she does
not intentiopatly breed or intentionally allow breeding of
the bats in the captive colonies at BWS. BWS neuters the
fruit bats as soon as they come of age, but nevertheless,
breeding does occasionally take place accidentally because
“Iylou can’t monitor éxactly when they're veady to be
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neuwred.” Lollar also stated that she does not have a
permit for the frnit bat captive colony because none is
reguired. Thus, iIf BWS had been breeding frust bats, it
wowd not have been in viglation of a4 permit.

*20 Lollar acknowledged thai BWS's permit for its
insgetivorous colony prohibits “propagating” bats, but
Lollar also testified that accidental breeding is ot
considered a violation of the permit. She stated that she
had:allowed breeding in the colony for a study done with
a hat conservation. organization but had done so with the
knowledye of the Texas Parks and Wildlife Department.

Laoliar further testificd that game wardens from the Texas
Parks and Wildlife Department had inspected the facility
and. found no violations from. accidental breeding. She
stated that BWS i1s periodically inspected by the agency
and that BWY hus always passed those inspections, it has
riever been reprimanded by the agency. and its permit has
never been suspended or fevoked.

Loliar introduced info evidence a copy of an email
exé_i;zlnge that. Communs had had with & stalf avtorney at
Texus Parks and Wildlife, who informed Cummins that
the agency haé found no Wolations by BWS. In that email,
theatiorney stated,

This is to advise you that
TPWD will not be responding ta
any further allegations from you
coacerning Amanda Lollar's facility.
Representatives of the TPWD Law
Enforcement Division wvisited that
facility earlier this year and found
no violations of the Texas wildlife
taws. Inlight of this information and
your basciess claim that someorie at
TPWD is libeling and defaming you,
we consider the matter closed.

L.olar thus produced evidence that she is not breeding the
bt in the BWS captive colonies in violation of BWS's
pesmit and tha: she has.not been found guilty of violating
thi# permit.

Loltar testified that Cummins's statements werce damaging
because i the bai conservation community believed that
she had been found to bé iliegally brecding bats, “[a]o
ont: would want to work with [her] anymore.” But
'J}}cr wstimony explaining the damag'ing natute of the
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stalements was unnecessary because the statements are
defamatory per se. They accuse Lollatr of intentionaliy
violaung the permit under which BWS is allowed to keep
one of its captive colonies, and they therefore damage her
in her profession. 4

Cummins did not produce any proof that Lollar had
been found guilty of causing BWS to violate its permit:
or that Lollar was incorrect in her understanding that
accidental breeding is not a violation of the permit,
Under the applicable standard of review, this evidence
15 sufficient to support the trial court's finding that
Cummins's statemerts about Lollar's breeding bats and
thereby violating BWS's permit were false.

[18] Cummins was also ordered to remove statements
that BWS had been forced by the health department to
leave the city because of all the complaints 1o the city
and the bealth department, and thai the city had had to

gut the building BWS had been in. 93 These siatements
arc defamatory per se because they injure Lolar i her
profession by implying that BWS's premises, where it
houses captive bat colonies and out of which it runs
its operation (arid where it performs certain emergency
treatment on bats), was so iil-kept that it rendered the
building it was in untit foc habitation. %

(191 Lollar testified that there wis no truth to- these
staterents. Lollar sold the bottom half of a building she

owned, and unneeded items had been stored in thal part

of the building, so she comacted a local church to come

pick up those items. The new owner moved those boxes to.

the sidewalk for the chureh to pick up from-there. Loblar

stated that the police had been called by someong who

was unhappy that the boxes were out on the sidewalk.

Lollar stated that the police.mistakenly wrote up that

the building was being gutred. The police report was net

included in the record, but Lollar testified that there was .
no truth 1o Cummins's statement that BWS was svicted

from ihe building or asked to leave the city.

*Zl Lollar's testhnony is evidence that the police report
stated the building was being gutted. The defamatory
nature of Cumming's statement arose, however, not from
her publishing the contents of the report—that the
building was being gutted—but from her embellishment
of the report. She stuted that the health departmient
forced Lollar and BWS out of the building and thai
the building was in such poor condition that it had o
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be gusted and cleaned. Lollar's testimany was evidence
that; Cummins's statemients to that eflect were false, and
Cammins provided no evidence to the contrary.

{20 Crummins made various statements about Lollar that
related to rabies. She stated that Lollar was breaking
the jaw by iflegully obtaining human and animal rabies

~ vaceinations and that Lollar had teld her that the place
where she buys her cabie¥ vacoliie thinks she is « doctor.

She’ statid that Lollar exposed intemns to rabies by not
checking their vaccination cards to ensure that they had
been vaccinated agwinst rabies. And she stated that Lollar
handled rabid bats with her bare hands, implyig that
Lollar was not knowledgeable about how to handle bats.
These statements are defamatory per s¢ becausc they
injuse Lollar in her profession, and at least one accuses
Lollar of acrime.

128 To prove the wuth of thege statements, Cummins
relied prmarily on her own testimony. She stated that
while 4 BWS, Lollar told her to give rabies vaccinations
to bats. Cummins stated that only veterinarians can
administer rabies vaccinaiions 1o bats. Cummins testified
that she reported Lollar to authorities for giving
vactinations to bats. And she reported Lollur for having
the.human rabies vaccine bocéuse only a doctor, nurse,
veterinarian, or pharmacist may have it. She further stated
that Loilar told her that she buys the vaccine from a
company that thinks she is a doctor,

Cumains also testifted that while she was there. Lollar
held a possibly rabid bat in her bare hands. She testified
that she had always been told never to touch a hat with
bere. hands, somcthing “all the bat experts know,™ yel
Loliar told hgr not to wear-gloves when handling bats. She
stated that Lollar told her to hold-in her bare hands a bat
that |ollar said was possibly rabid, Commins testified that
ngjther Lollar not anyone else asked. for proof that she
had buen. vaccizated ag’ginst' rabies before beginning her
iméroship.

Kay Singleton testified that Lollar did wot tell her to give
rahics vaccinations (o bats. She also tesiified that although
she had proof of pre-exposure rabies vaccination. Lollar
did hot ask to see it.

Loellar stated that shie buys the human rabics vaccination
but not the aninal rabies vaccine. She used to buy the
d;mr\ﬂ.l rabics vaccite when it was legal for anyone to

[FAE

do. 50, but at some point in the 1990s, the law changed.
Lollar stated that she is not violating the law by buying
the human rabies vaccine. She buys it trom. Novartis,
Novartis knows she is not a doctor. and she works with.a
veterinarian to legally ébtain the vaceine.

Lallar explained that BWS works with a nurse practitioner
at a doctor's office who accepis people from BWS on
a walk-m basis and who administers the vaccine if
needed. She stated that despite the implication {rom
Cummins's posting that Lollar personally administers
rabies vaceinations to people, shve does not. Lollar will give
the vaccine to interns 10 take to a nurse for administering
it, but she doces not administer vaccines herself.

Regarding holding rabid bats with her bare hands, Lollar
testified that while Cumimins was there, she hebd in her
bare hands a bat pup that wus displaying neurological
symptoms that couid be the result of either pesticide
poisaning or rabies, and that she was about to euthanize
the bat because “[tfhere is no way to save an animal
that has those type of symptoms.” She cxplained that
bat pups do not have teeth that can break the skin, so
“any researcher might™ hold such a .pup in his or her
bare hands. According to Lollar, “i]i's done all the time”
by researchers, biologists, and othier professionals. Lollar
testified that Cumminsmade the statements about holding
rabid bats in her bare hands to mxake it look like Lollar did
not know what she was doing, how “dumb {she] must: be.
to be holding a rabid bat in fher} bare hand.”

*22 Regarding praof of rabies vaccinations, Lollar
testified that someone else with BWS coordinated the
internshipsthe year that Cumimins came. That person was
in charge of checking for proof of rabies vaceinations,
angd Loliar relied on that person's report about. whether
the interns were vaccinated. Lollar stated that no one can
atrend a BWS internship who has not been vaceinated.

Lollar further testificd that because of Cummins's
allegations, the Ceuters for Disease Control called every
intemn who had been at BWS in the previous year 1o
talk to them about their experience and about BWS
protocols. The only chauge to. BWS protdcols that the
CDC recommended was that instead of recommending
that interns wear gloves when working with cértain
species, BWS should make it a requirement.
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Dotothy Hyatt, vice president. of BWS, testificd that she
had’ never seen Lollar administer a rabies vaccine to
a -person. Kennedy testified thai she received a rabies
booster shot while on her last day at BWS, but it was
-administered to ber at a doctor's office, not at BWS.
Nobody at BWS administered any type of shot to her.
Loliar testified that she provided the vaccine to Kennedy
butdid not administer it to her—she drove Kennedy to the
doctor's office where the nurse practitioner administered
i,

Kenncdy stated that she was required to show proof of
pre-exposure rahies vaccination shots before beginning
her - internshjp. Aund Kc‘ﬁned’y testified thar she was
encouraged to wear ploves while at BWS, We hold that
she evidence was sufficient to support the trial court's
Judgment as-to statements relating o Lollar's violations
of rules, regulwions, standards, and Jaws. and we overrule
Cumrnins's third and fourth issues as io these statements.

Algo under these issuzs, Cwmmins argues that she
was not given a copy of the specific statements that
Lollar and BWS alicged to be defamatory until affer
the trial had concluded, and she could not defend the
statiments without kodwing what they weie hefore tnal.
Lollar's petition stated that Cummins had posted and
way coalinving to post defamatory statements about
Lolfar online. If Lollar's pctilion did not provide enough
specificity for Cummins’ to kanow which statements
she; would need to defend. Cummins could have
specially excepted to Lollar's petition. 7 No such special
cxetptions appear in the appellate record.

Cumnumins also challeriges the judgment against her based
on staiements in. exhibit 18, which she cpniends were
magle by people other than her.. Aad s{w complains
thas the exhibits containing the defamatery statements
weérs never authenticated. Cumimins did not objeet 1o a
lack of authentication aa to exhibit 18. % And, as she
ackuow'icdgw none of the statements she was ordered to
remove were i exhibit 18,

Cwimmins did abject that exhibil 17 had pot been
auﬂmnucuted and the tria] court overruled her objections.
Bul shé daes not argue, nor do we discern from our
review of the record. how she was harmed by any
lack of authenucation of the exhibits containing the
apements, particularly when she admitted at hal to

™y
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making the statements in the exhibits that we have held
were defamatory per se. g4 ,
Finally, Cummins complsins about beiiig ordered to
remove the episiotomy video. She asserts that ‘she
introduced evidence that the video is the truth and that
Lollar did not produce evidence that the contents of the
video are false because Lollar admits that it 13 a video
of her performing an episiotomy. As we stated above,
Lollar did not contend that the video does not depict
her performing an episiotomy. She camplained that the
video's editing and the added captions were defamatory.
And, as stated above, Lollar proved that the video us
edited by Cummins was [alse. Wé overruje the remainder
ol Cummins's third and fourth issues.

3. Defamation Damages

*23 In her fifth issue, Cummins challenges the damages
awarded to Lollar for defamation. Regarding the
compensatory damages award. her argument under this
issue relates only to economic damages, and she includes
no argument relating io any of the other categories of
damages that Lollar pled and introduced -eviderice on.
We overrule her issue as to the compensitory duimages

award. 10

As, for exemplary damages. Cummins argues that Lollar
produced no evidence of malice and that Cummins's
net worth does not support the amount of the award,
Cummnins did not timely raise these complainisin the tial
court, but becausc this is an appeat from a bench trial and
these complasms challenge the sufficiency of the evidence
to support the damages award, she may raise them fon the

first time on appeal, 'O

Chapter41 of'the civil practive and remedies code provides
that generally, to be entitled to exemplary damages, a
plaintiff must show fraud, malioe or gross negligence

by clear @nd. cmmnung evidence. ' “Malice” in this
context means "2 specific intent by the defendaut to

cause substaptial injury or harm to the claimant.” 103
Additionaliy, in a defamution action, the Texas Suprert
Court has stared that “recovery of exemplary damages
are. appropriately within the guarantees of the First
Amendiment if the plaintiff proves by clear and convincing
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evidence that the defendant published the defamatory
Statement with actual malice.” '

Clear and convincing evidence is that measure or degree
of proof that wiil produce in the mind of thie tricr of fact a
firm Belief or conviction as to the truth of the allegations

sought to beestablished. '*° Thisintermediate standard of
proof falls beiween the preponderance standard of proof
appucable to most civil proceedings and the reasonable
doubt standwd of proof applicable to most criminal
proceedings. '™ While the proof must be of a heavier
weight than mierely the greater weight of the credible
evidence, there is no requirement that the evidence be
unequlvucai or undigputed. N7 5 evaluating the legal
suﬂuency of the ¢vidence under the clear and conviucing
standard of prool, we must determine whether the
evigdence is suciithat a factlinder could reasonably form. a

firm betief or.conviction that its findiog was true. ‘9%

*2 1In determiniog whit amount of exemplary damages
to award, the factfinder must consider any evidence
refating to (1) the nature'of the wrong; (2) the character
of the conduct involved; (3) the degree of the wrongdoer's
culprbility; (4) the situation and sensibilities of the parties
converned; (5) the extent to which such conduct offends
a public sense of justice and propriety; and (6 the

defendani's net worth.'® 1n our review of an exemplary
damages award, we must state our reasons. for upholding
or distirbing the award, and ‘we must “address the
evidencs or dack of evidence with specificity, as it refates 10
the:liability for or amount of excmplary damages. in fight

of the requirements of™ chapter 41. ¢

{22} The evidence at triad did not show that Cummins had
& titzative nct worth. After the judginent wus rendered,
Cummins filed an affidavit of indigency! and aftér a
coniest, the triaf court found that she was indigent. But
tha,t finding, made after the trial court had rendered
jud,_.mem and Cummins had filed her notice of appeal,
wis irrelevant to the trial court's earlier determination of
the exemplary damages award. Furthermore. the other
Tactors that a cougt considers in awarding exemplary
damages weigh in favor of the award. As we have
exgia'mevd, Cummins posted a flood of statements about
LoHar accusing het of all manner of serious wrongdoings,
including crianes, and she published her staiements to as
wide of an audicuce as she could, including to fiilumerous

(Bp
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law enforcement agencies. The statements were desigried
to ruin Lollars professional and personal reputation
lacally and nationally.

[23] Asto Cummias's argumint that Lolfir failed toshow
maljice, we disagree. From our review of the record, 1
Lollar showed by clear and convincing evidence that
Cummins acted with malice as that term is used in
chapter 41 and with 1he actual malice required under the
First Amendment. The evidence supports a conclusion
that Cumimins engaged in a persistent, calculated attack
on Lollar with the intention to ruin both Lollar's life's
work and her credibility and standing in the animal
rehabilitation community, Cammins posted innumerable
derogatory statements about Lollar impugning her
honesty und her competency, and she repeatedly and
relentlessly  reported Lollar to multiple government
agencies. The comments she made about Lollar leave no
doubt that she had a specific intent to causc substantial
injury ar harm to Lolar.

Clear and convincing evidence also supports a finding
that Cummins published statemenis on the internet with
actual malice. For example, with regard. to Cummins's
swatements about Loilar's dogs, the evideiice supporied
a finding that Cummins was not telling the truth. The
trial court's determination that Cummins was nol credible
was rcasonable, and, consequently, we are required to
ignore her festimony in reviewing the trial court’s adtual
malice determination.'12 And if the triai court believed
thar Lollar, Kennedy, Dr. Messner, and Dr. Jarrett were
telling the truth-—and it is clear that the court did believe
that---that determination was reaaonable, Their testimony
supports the trial court's determination that Cummins
published fabricated statements about Lollar's care of her
dogs, and, thus, tiat lhe statements were made with actual
malice. ;

*25 Regarding the episiotomy video, Cummins offered
only her own testimony 1o support her version. Lollar, Dr.
Jarrett, and Dr. Messner all agrecd that what Cumming
said occurred did not happen. Cummins admitted that she
had never performed an episiotomy on a bat before, and
therefore she had no basis for asserting as facr what was
at best speculation and at worst total fabrication. But she

posted her version as fact. not speculation, and then she

spread her version as far and wide as she possibly could.
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The evidence further supports a conclusion that Cummins
toli. as many people as she could thar Lollar was
illegally. obtaining and administering Isoflurane and
rabies vaceines and that she made these representations
as facts, despite the fact that they were based only on
assumptions she had made based on himited information.
As with Curnmins's statenients sbout Lollar's dogs, the
trial court's determination that Curamins was not credible
was. 4 resonable onc, and therefore we are required to
ignore her testimouny in our review. And the trial court's
determination that Lollar. Dr. Jarrett, and Dr. Messner
were vredible was a reasonable one. Based on these
cradibifity dewerminations, clear and convincing evidence
supports the trial court's findidg that Cummins made
statements on these matters with actual malice. We hold
that the secord supports a finding of malice—both of the
nalicé required for an award of exemplary damages ueder
Texus law and of actual malice as required for an award

of exermplary damages in defamation actions, '3

[?A! And finally under this issue, Cummins argues that
the exemplary damages award was excessive. She includes
no argument abount why the dumages were excessive other
thdn to gay that exemplary damages must be reasonably
proportional 1o aciual damages. She does nol include any
argiment or citylions to authority abouat why the damages

1ia

were not proportional in this¢ase. "' Further, she didnot

timely raise this complaint in the trial court. "3

And although the civil practice and remedies code's cap
‘on txemplary damages 1é applicd to this case, Cummins
neithes tirnely raised this issue in the trial court nor argued
on nppeal that the trial court did not apply the cap or
did_not apply it correctly. This court has held that the
sigfutory cap is an affirmatve defense that must be pled
giid proved. 7 An argument that the trial court failed 1o
prapariy apply the cap is therefore not a complaint about
the sufficiency of the evidence 1o support the award. 18
Bx.~cnus<. Cummins neither preserved any complaint about
lhomp in the triad court nor raised the issue on appeal, we
may not consider whether the trial court failed to properly
apply the cap, We overrule Cummins'’s fifth issue as to the

" exemplary damages award.

*26 {25 Cummins included one other argument relating
to “the part of the relief uwarded to Loillar on her
defunation claim. In one sentence in the summary of her

Argument, Cummins challenges the permanent injunction
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included in, the judgment. She argues, with no citation to
authonty, U9 e “{tThe court's order is also overly broad,
Tt comains prior restruint (,) which is unconstitutional.”

The judgmeni ardered that “Cummins be permanently
enjoined” and “ORDERED to imwmediately and
permanently remove fiom the internet” statements. that
appearcd on specificd web pages. Fo the cxtent that
the trial court’s order required Cummins to remove the
statements that the court ruled were detamatory, the order
is constitutional. > But the order is uncoustitutional to
the extent that it permanently enjoins Cwmmins from
making similar statements in the future. '3 Though
Cummins ¢an be hetd responsible for any defamatory
statements she may make about Lollar in the future, the
trial court could not issue an order prohibiiing hier from
making them. Thus, to the extent that the order may
be read to permmanently enjoin Clunmins from making
similar statements in the future, we susiain Commins's
challenge to that part of the judgment. 122 we overrule the
remnainder of her {ifth issue,

B. Breach of Confract

Cummins's last five issues challenge the judgment for BWS
for breach of contrac:

6. Did Appellees present “more than a scintifla® of
evidence that any of Appetlant's actions meet a/lfoir of
the followiny criteria for breach of contract?

a. The-existence of a valid contract;

b. Performance or tendered performance by the
plaintff;

¢. Bircach of the-contract by the defendant; and

d. Damages sustained by the plaintiffs as a result of
the breach.

7. Did the trial court cir in granting Appslice's
{judgment] ugainst Appellant for bresch of contract?

8. Were Plaintiffs entitled to attorneys' fees?
9. Were attoracys' fees reasonable?

10. Were Plaintiffs entitled to liquidated damages? Wue
they reasonable, legal?

¢t et et i g |
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Cumnmins argues that the award of damages on the breach
of Contract claitn was ervoncous as to both Lollar and
BWS. birt the contract was with BWS and not with
Lollar, and- the trial court. fouitg that Cummins should
pay only BWS $10,000 for hireach of contract. And only
BWS sought snd was awarded damages for bresch of
contract. We therefore overrule asmoot Cummins's issues
challenging th:ic breach of contract claim, as to Lollar.

The breach of contract was & producing cause of actual
damages to [BWS].

Loliar testified that she belicved the contract prohibited
Cummins from sharing withowt permission any
photographs or videos taken at BWS, regardless of
whether the photographs diselosed data, technicques,
results, or anecdotal information provided to the intérn.
Much of Lollar's testimony 4t trial about Cumminss

. publishing of photos and videos related to whether

1. Sufficiency of the Evidence to Show Breach of Contract

126} o horsixth issue, Cummins argues that BWS did not
present degally sufficient evidence to support the breach
of contragt claim. To prove a breach of contract claim,
a plaintstT must show “the existence of a valid contrac,
per;fonn:u,lce or tendered performance by the plaintifT,
brédach of the contract by the defendant. and damages
sustained as a resitlt of the bieach.” '3 Cummins argues
that BWS produced no evidence that she breached the
comtract and showed no proof of actual or financiul
damages.

*27 In uis petition, BWS alleged that Cunnmnins breached
a ‘provision in the iimtern contract that stated, “It is
undzrstood that the deta, techniques, resulis, and unecdotal
information provided to Trainee during their infernship
at BWS is proprictary and is copyrighted as intellectual
praoperty by BWS. Trainee agrees not to distribute, share,
puddlish, or sell this information without obtaining prior
wiitien permission from BWS.” (Emphasis added.) BWS
ullgged that Cummins breached these provisions in that:

~ While {Cummins) was on the Bat World Sanctuary's
premises she videctaped and photographed Bat World's
wechuisjues, resulis, dataf,] and anecdotal information,
often withoin the kn.u’wledgc of Bat World Sunctuary.
After teaving the program [Cummins] began posting
. these videotapes and photographs on the intemet
without Bat World Sanctuary’s permission, thereby
breaching her contract with Bat World Sanctuary.
[Cuniming] refuses to temove these videotapes and
phiotographs (rom the internet where they remair as of
the date of the filing of this suit.

[Cumimins)s conduct as described above constitutes

137 breach of contraet for which [BWS] bring[s] this suit.
[FAR ’
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Cummins had peimission to publish them and not
on whether they included information covered by the
contract,

By its language, however, the provision applies only to
daty, techniques, results, and anecdotal information given
10 intern trainees. ft does not prohibit a trainee from
publishing photagraphs or videos that the trainee took
at BWS if those pictures or videos do noi [all within the
categories protected by the contract. '2¢ As acknowledged
by Lollar in her testimony, not all of the pictures taken and
posted by Cummiins-contained propyietary of copyrighted
nfarmation.

BWS mtroduced into evidence various photographs and
four videos that Cummins took during her time at BWS
andlater posted online. The first video was of an old Pallid
bat. Lollar did not explain what data, techniques, results,
or anecdotal information this video disclosed, and in our
review of the video, we could not determine that-any such
information was included in it. No onc clse testifiod for
BWS on that point. Accordingly, there was no cvidence
that Cummins's publishing of the video was a breach of
the contract.

‘The second vides was of orphan red bats hanging from a
bar hut. Lollar testified that.the bat hut was a BWS design,
but she did noi claborate on whether the design was
proprictary or in what way the video disclosed protected
data, techniques, cesults, or ancedotal mformation. Tn
our review of the video, we could not determine what
information protected by the contract was included in it,
Thus, BWS did not produce sufficient evidence that this
video's publication by Cummins vialaved the contract.

#28 The third video was the episiotony video. When the
video was played at trial, it was played without sonad.
Lodlar’s attorney attempted 1o play the video sgain later
to include the sound, but he and Lollar talked over the
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beginning of the video, and almost immediately after they
stopped talking, the DVD player quii working.

The copy of the video included with the appellate record
does coutain sound, but even with the sound, we ¢cannot
say that the video discloses information protecied by the
cotitract. The video was edited g0 thal only a portisa of
the: procedure was shown. Of the paris that were shown,
at timex, nothing but Lollars hand can be seen due to
the: angle of the camera and the small size of the bat.
Loflar explained very little of what she was doing in the
‘provedure. A person watching the video could glean only
4 hiat of Loliar's technique for performing episiotomies.
From the combination of an incomplete video, misleading
captions, an phscured view of the bat, and a lack of
narration of what was happening, the evidence was
not suificient to show that this video disclosed data,
techriques, resulls, or anecdotal information protected by
the'contract.

The fourth video was of an orphan red bat being held by
Commins. There was no téstimony about what protected
data, rechniques, results, or anccdotal information, ifany,
was disclosed in the video, and wegould discern none from
our viswing of it, ‘Accordingly, BWS produced no legally
sufficient evidence of how the publication of this video
‘breached the contract,

As [or the photographs that were published, there was
ne testimony about what data. techniques, results, or
anecdotad information, if any. was disclosed in their
publmanon Muny of the pictures appear to be just
prefures of bats, and some are of Lollar's dogs. From our
review of the photographs produced by BWS at trial, we
cammt determine what protected mformanon |f any was
ingludeck in them.

Cunming produced evidence in e form of an email
exchange that fos some of the photographs she published
on ‘FPacebook, she informed Lollar almost as soon as
she had published them. and Lollar replied, “Thank
you Maiy!™ Wheo Cummins asked at trial if Lollar
had ever asked her 1o remove anything that Curamins
had published, Lollar stzted, I have pever sent
any communiciation 1o you whatsoever after vou. left
our internship.” Lollar produced no cvidence refuting
Cuinmins's evidence that she had assented to the
pubushmg of sothe of the pholographs on Facebook.

Cunmms thus produced uncontroverted evidence that
T
A
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Lollar assented to the publication of those photographs
and did not revoke her assent to the publication of thosc
photographs before filing suit.

Regardless of whetier Cummins's publication of videos
and photographs taken at BWS niay bave violated some
ather nght o' BWS, the evidence ul trial was not legally
sufficient to show & breach of the contracis prohijbition of*
the disclosure of datu, techniques, results, and anecdotal
information Cummins leamed while at BWS,

{271 The only other provision that BWS arguably alleged
that Cumimins breached was a provision that, if breachod.
provided for liquidated damages. In closing arguments,
Lollar and BWS's attorney stated, “Your Honor, we
request that (BWS] be awarded $10,000. in liquidated
damages pursuant 1o the contract that was signed by Ms.
Cummins.” That part of the contriwt provided,

*2% In ihe evens that Trainee a1 any time Jais. to
Jollow. to the satisfaction of BWS, each and every BWS
guideline and pracedure w hen caring for. treating. or
fhousing bats. then Trainee's Certificate of Completion
of Bat World's training prograr shall be. automatically
revoked without notice or hearing atid Trainee may
no longer publish, advertise, or COMMUNIcate o any
person the fact that he or she was trained by BWS or
was certified by BWS. BWS shall havesole discretion to
determine whether or no1 the Certificate of Completion
should be revoked. In the evern thar Trainee is noiified
in writing that Trainee's Certificate of Complétion has
been revoked by BWS und Traigee thereafter publishes,
advertises or cominunicates to any person the fact that
Traince was trained by BWS or was certified by BWS,
t hen Trainee agrees to pay BWS liquidated dmmges in
the amount of $16.080, and ull attoriey’s:fees incurred
by BWS in enforcing this contract, [Emphasis added ]

There is no evidence that BWS issued Cummins a
certificale of completion that it subsequently revoked in
writing and that Curymins then published, advertised, or
communicated the fact that she was trained or certified
by BWS. Aecordingly, no evidence supptirtsa finding that
Cummins breached this provision.

[28] Furthermore, BWS did not produce sifficient

evidence of damages. At trial, Lollar and her attorney had
this exchange on the subject of damages:
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Q: (IIf somebody was io take photographs of Bat World
and then publish them without your permission, would
there be any way for you to put an exact dollar value
A1 the photograplis that they published without your
permission?

A. {[ycould only base it on~—onsome of the information
that ... might be shared would be valuable. We—-['ve
beeu hired asa consuliant. ... in different capacities, and
--and imy khowledge is frecly shared afong those linas,
then ... it -would decrease the amount of value that my
consultation woald havér

Q). How much have you charged in the past for
consultation?

A. $15.0600.

Q. Okay. And is SI19.000 your estiinate of the
approximate amounl that you would charge someone
te randomly show these videos or pictures?

A, Yeu Yes.

Q. So, in your mind, the $10,000 has some beatingtothe
actua) damages that you would suffer if photographs
were publishéd randomly without vour approval?

A Yes,

Thus, Lollar's cstumate of damages to BWS was based on
the extent that the pictures or videos disclosed informalion
for which she might otherwise be hired to provide in paid
consullations. Assuming that Lollar was testifying about
w,_h;:xt she charges for consuliations on behalf of BWS, her
testimony was that she has been hired as a cousultant
"‘ini.d.iffe:rcm'g capacitics,” but she did nat explain how the
vidgos ar photographs disclosed information for which
shéiprovides consulting services. The only video thacseems
to arguubly disclose information that might be covered
: e contract was the video of the episiotosny. Thus.
the: evidence did hot support a finding that Cummins's
publication of tbe other videos and the photographs
cawed Lollar to suffer damages. And even assuming the
record supported a finding that Loliar offersconsultations
on episiotomies. we have already held that the video in
the: record did not disclose proprietary immformation, and
thiix BWS did not prove thit Cummias's publication of it
cagsed damages arising from a breach of the contract.
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The evidence provided by BWS to support damages isnot
sufficient to show that it suffered $10,000 in damages from
a breach by Cummins of the intern contract. We sustiin
Cummins's sixth issue.

Cummins's séventh issue asks whether the trial courterred
by granting Lollar and BWS judgment against her for
breach of contract. Cunymins does not include any new
arguments undey this issue, and we therefore need not

address it. 125

2. Attorney's Fees for Breach of Conteaci

*30 Cummins's eighth and ninth issues challenge whether
BWS was entilled to attorney's fees, and if it was,
whcther the fees awanded ware reasonable. She argues
that attorney's fees should not have been awarded because
there was no breach of contract, BW§'s petition requested
an award of-attorney's fees under section 38.001 of the’
civil practice und remedies. code. 126 gws gid not plead
any other basis for attorney's fees. Because we have hiéld
that the judgment for breach of contract was improper, we
must also hold that the award. of attorney's fees based on

. 127
the contract was improper.

3. Liquidated Damages

Cummins's tenth and final issue challkenges the tial coutt's
award of liquidated damages for breach.-of countract.
We have alreudy held that the evidence wus insufficient
to show that Cummins breached the contract provision
triggering liquidated. dumages and that the tral coust
therefore should not have awarded hquidated damages io
BWS. Accordingly, we necd not address Cumming's ténth

issile.

¥V, Conciusion

We affirm the trial court’s judgment in part and reverse it
in part. Having overruled Cummins’s first, second, third,
fourth. and seventh issues, and having overruled her fifth
issue in part, we affirm the tdal court's judgment as to
the award of actual damages and exemplary damages fou
Lollar. We also affirm that portiou of the trial court's
judgment ordering Cumunins to remnove trom. the interaet
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attorney's fees and render judgment that BWS take

the jweb pages and defamatory statcments spectfied in the - - )
nothing on its claims.

judgment. Having sustained her fifth issue in part, we
reverse that part of the trisl court's judgment permanently
cnjoining Cummins from making similar statements inthe
future. » MEIER, ., concurs without opinion.

Having sustained Cummins's sixth. eighth. and ninth  All Citations
issugs, weteverse that portion of the trial court’s judgment

. Nt . v 3 2014 §
awarding damages 1o BWS for byeach of contract and Not Reported in 5.W.3d, 2015 WL [641144

Fooinotes

1 See Tax.R.Agp. P.47.4.

2 This court received two friend of tha court briefs inthis case—ane cn bahalf of Public Citlzen and one filed jointly by The
Cambodia Wildlife Sanctuary and ElephantsinCrisis.org.

3 These are a jobs that Lollar had held before founding BWS.

4 Saa Tex. Civ. Prac. & Rem.Cade Ann. § 73.001 (West 2011).

5 Catalina v. Blasdel, 881 S.W.2d 295, 297 (Tex.1984); Anderson v. Cily of Seven Points, 806 S.W.2d 791, 794 (Tex.1891);

- s60 also MBM Fin. Corp. v. Wouodlands Operating Co., 282 S.Wv.3d 660, 863 n.3 (Tex.2009).

6 City of Austin v. Whittington, 384 S.W.3d 766, 779 n.10 (Tex.2012) (citing BMC Software Beigium, N.V. v. Marchand, 83
$.W.3d 785, 794 (Tex.2002}); H.E.B.. LL.C. v. Aldinger, 369 S.W.3d 486, 513 (Tex.App.—Fant Worth 2012, no pet.).

7 Wasto Mgrnt. of Tex., Inc. v. Tex. Disposel Sys. Landfll, Inc., 434 S.W.3d 142, 156 (Tex.2014).

8 Id.

g Burbage v. Burbage, 447 S.W.3d 249, 259 (Tex.2014).

10  Waste Mgmi., 434 S.W:3d & 156.

11 .

12  DowChem. Co. v Francis, 46 S.W.3d 237, 241 (Tex.200%); Sterner v. Marathon Oil Ga., 767 S.W.2d 686, 690 (Tex.1989).

13 Bentfay v. Bunton, 34 S.W.3d §61, 597 (Tex.2002).

14 o a1 597-99.

16  Sze Waste Mygmt., 434 S.W.3d st 150 n.35 (noting that a corporation may sue for defamation but & business may not;
the awner of a business may sue for defamation and a busingss may sue for business disparagement).

18- Soe Tex. Bus. Org. Code Ann. § 252.006(a) (West 2012) ("A nonprofit associetion is a legal entity separate from Its,
members for the purposes of determining and enforcing rights, duties, and liabilities in contract and tart.™); Daniels v.
Emply Eye, Inc., 368 S W.3d 743, 752 (Tex. App.—Houston [14th Dist.] 2012, pet. denied) (observing that a carporation
arid its president are distinct entities).

17'} See Waste Mgmt., 434 S.W.3d at 150.n.35. See Burbage, 447 S.W.3d at 261 n.6, for a discussion of the differences

" petween a claim for defamation snd one for busingss disparagement. .
18:  [nre Lipsky, 411 S.W.3d 530, 543 (Tex'App.—Fort Worth 2013, orig. proceeding).
191 Ses, e.g. Msarst Corp. v. Skeen, 159 S.W.3d 633, 837 n.1 (Tex.2005) {Proving falsity in a public-figyre defamation case
| is the plaintiff's.burden of procf.”). '

20 Rehak Craative Servs., Inc. v. Witt, 404 SW.3d 716, 728 (T ex_App.~Houston [14th Dist.] 2013, pat. denied) {citing Tumesr

" v. KTRK Television, ing., 38 S.\W.3d 103, 114-15 {Tex.2000), and Tex. Civ. Prac. & Rem Code. Ann. § 73.001.

21 Morrill v. Cisek, 226 S.W.3d 545, 549-50 (Tex.App.—Houston [1st Dist.) 2008, no pet.).

22, I

23 Hotchkinv. Bucy. No. 02-13-00173~CV, 2014 WL 7204486, at "4 (Tex App.~Fort Worth Dec. 18, 2014, no. pet.) (mem.

~ op.); Meiselv. U.S. Bank, N.A., 398 5.W.3d 675, 680 (Tex App.-Daltas 2013, no pet.}.

24 CGurtis Pub. Co. v: Butts, 388 U.S. 130, 151, 87 . Ct. 1975, 1989 (1967). :

25:  Huibut v. Gulf All. Life ins. Co., 749 S.W.2d 762, 768 (Tex.1987); John E. Hallen, Fair Camyneri, 8 Tex. L.Rev. 41, 52

{1928), ses s/so John J. Watkins & Charles W. Schwartz, Gertz and the Common Law of Defamation: of Fault, Nenmedia

Dsfendants, anod Conditionat Privileges, 15 Tex. Tech. L.Rev. 823, 825 (1984).

Hallen, supre note 25, 8t 53; see aiso Curtis Pub..-388 U.S. at 151, 87 S.Ct. at 1989.
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Milkovich v. Lorain Journal Co., 497 U.S. 1, 13-14, 110 S.Ct. 2695, 2703 (1990) (obsetving that the privilegs of “fair
comment” was incorporated into the common faw); Cavn v. Mearst Cosp.. 878 §.W.2d 577, 581 (Tei-.1994) (discussing
various priviieges): Hallen, supra note 25, at 41-42. .

8See Helfen, supra note 25, at $3-54 {cling Commonwealth v. Clap. 4 Mass. 162, 169 {1808)); see also Neely v. Wilson,
418 SW.3d 52, 62 (Tex.2013, pet.denied) (noting that "Rlhe comman law and statutes provide cartgin defenses and
prvileges to defamation claims").

376 U.S. 254, 279, 283, 84 S.Ct. 710, 726-27 {1864).

Id. 20.280--81, 84 S.Ct at 726.

See, e.g., Holt v. Pargons, 23 Tex. 9, 20 (1859) (staling that to ba classified as a privileged communication, a statement
must have been made frae from malicious intent).

New York Tirnes, 376 U.S..at 279-80, 84 S. Gt. at 726.

ld.; Messon v. New Yorker Magazine, 501 U.S. 486, 510-11. 111 5.Ct. 241 9, 2428~-30 (1991) (describing this standard
as requiring proof that the authar "entertsined serious doubts as to the truth of his publication or acted with a "high degree
of awareness of ... probable falsity' *) (citations omitted); ses also Watkins & Schwarlz, supra note 25, at 870-71 (npting
the difficuity courts have had with the interplay botween the ill will malice standard used to defeat 3 state law privilags
and the *conslitutional maiice standard” required under the First Amendment),

Froadom Newsgapers of Tax. v. Cantu, 168 S.W.34 847, 858 (Tex. 2005) (quoting New Times, Inc. v. isaacks, 146 S W.3d
144, 165 (Tex.2004) and stating that “[wihile a personal vendetta demonstrated by a history of false alegations may
provida some evidence of malice, free-floating il will does not®),

388 U.S. at 164, 170, 172. 87 S.C\. at 1996, 1999, 2000; see Gertz v. Robert Welch, Inc., 418'U.S. 323, 342, 94 S.Ct. 2997,
3008 (1974) (stating that people may be classed as public figures elthar “by reason of the notorlsty of their achisvements®
or because of “the vigor and success with which they seek Ihe public's attention”).

403 U.5.29.43,81S.Ct. 1811, 1819 (1971), abrogated by Gertz, 418 U.S. 323, 94 S.Ct. 2097. Justice Marshall dissented,
painling out that the under that rule, “courts will be required to somehow pass on the legitimacy of interest in a particular
@vent of subject.” /d. at 79, 91 S.Ct. at 1837.

418 U.S, at 343, 94 S. Ct. at 3008-09.

/d. gt 351, 94 S.Ct. ot 3012-13.

Id. 81 34647, 94 S.Ct. at 3010.

id.; Neely, 418 S\W.3d at 61.

@erz, 418 U S. at 349, 94 S.Ct. ot 3011.

fo. at 346, 84 5.Ct..at.3010. In his dissent, Justice Brennan disagreed with the majority's failure to provide to the media
the same level of constituliénal protection when its “reporls cancern private persons’ involvament In matters of public
cuncern® as it did for reporting about public officiats and figures. ld. at 362, 94 $.Ct. at 3019 (Brennan, J.. digsenting).
fd. at 34547, 94 S.Ct. at 3010.

Id; at 349, 94 S.Ct. at 3011.

472 U.8. 749, 751, 105 S. Ct. 2938, 204 {1985).

{4 at 764, 105 S.Ct. at 2841.

).

id. at 761, 105 S.Ct. at 2946 (emphasis added).

475 U.8. 767, 108 $.Ct. 1558-59 (1986).

id. at 775, 106 S.Gt. at 1563.

fd. at 768-69, 106 S.Ct. at 1559,

ld. 8t 777, 106 S. Ct. at 1564 (emphasis added).

Id. at 779 nd, 108 S. Ct. at 1565. In his concurring opinion, Juslice Brennan complained that "such a distinction is
irreconcilabls with the fundamental First Amendment principle that {tjhe inherent worth of ... speech in terms of its capaclty
for informing the public does not depend upon the identity of the source, whether carporation, assoclation, union, or
individual " Id. dt 780, 108 S. Ct at 1585 (Brennan, J., concutring) (citations and internal quotation marks omitted); see
&iso Babbitt v. United Farm Workers Nat'l Union, 442 U.S. 288, 309 n.18, 88 S. Ct. 2301, 2314 (1979) ("We have not
adjudicated the role-of the First Amendmant in suits by private parties against nonmedia defendants.”).

Neely, 418 S.W.3d at 61; Casso v. Brend, 778 S.W.2d 551, 554 (Tex.1989) (stating that the court was "reluctant to afford
Qreater constitutional proteclicn to members of the print and broadcast madia than to ordinary citizens” and tharafore
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hoiding that whan a public figure suas a private individual, the plaintift must prove that the defendant made false and
defamatory statements about the plaintiff with actual malice).

Negly, 418 S W.3d at 61.

Hangock v. Variyam, 400 Si\W.3d 59, 65, n.7 (Ten.2013).

See Hepps, 475 U.S. at 776, 106 S.Ct. at 1563; Neely, 418 $.W.ad at

See Bentiey, 94 S.W.3d at 587, )

See Casso, 776 S.W.2d at 555 n.3 ("We need ngt at this time decide whether every plaintiff in any defamation case,
regardless of his stajus or that of the defendant, must prove faisity as an element of his cause of action.’); see &lso
Randall's Food Mits., inc. v. Johnson, 881 S.W.2d 640, 646 (Tex. 1995) {continuing to apply the rule that “[ijn suits brought
by private individuals, truth is an affirmative defanse to stander).

418 U.S. at 344, 94 S Ct. at 3009.

Herbert v. Lando, 441 U.S. 153, 189, 49 S.CL. 1635, 1655 (1979).

See Kinney v. Bames, 443 S.\W.3d 87, 100~-01 (Tex.2014).

But see Watkins & Schwartz, supra note 25, at 846-50 (acknowledging that "publlc opinion is affected aach day by the
communications between milfions of private persens,” and “an individual's attitude toward political issues is formed not
only by tha institutional media, but alse by cammunications in family groups, social groups, work groups, and peer groups
in generaf” {citations omitted)).

Nossly, 418 SW.3d at 70.

id.

ld. .

WFAA-TV, Inc. v. McLernore, 978 S.W.2d 568, 572 (Tax.1998).

Eintiorn v, LaChance, 823 S.W.2d 405, 411-12 (Tex.App ~Houston {15t Dist.] 1992, writ dism'd w.0.j,).

MclLemore, 978 S.\V.2d.at 572 {quotation omitted).

Neoly, 418'S W.3d at 70.

Gertz; 418 U.S. at 34445, 94 S.Ct. at 3009.

MecLemore, 978 §.W.2d &t 573 (brackets in original).

Neely, 418.S.\W.3d a1 70.

<98 Hutchinson v. Proxmire, 443 U.S. 111, 135, 99 S.Ct. 2675, 2688 (1979) (stating that betore defamatory statements
were made about the plaintiff, he had published writings that reached only “a relatively smali category of professionals,”
that the plaintiff had not “thrust himself or his views into public controversy to influence others,” and that the defandants
had "ot identified such a panicular controversy; at most, they peintied) to concen about ganeral public expenditures.” a
“ooncern is shared by most and relates to most public expenditures” and “is not sulficient 1o make {the plaintiff] a public
figure™).

See Kenizman v. Brady, No. 01-11-00765-CV, 2014 WL 7205206, at *11 (Tex.App.—~Houston [1st Dist.] Dec. 18, 2014,
pet. filed) {op. on reh'g) (“Whether a plaintiff is a timited-purpose public figure who has involved himsslif in a public
contraversy and whather an article addresses a matier of public concem are two separate fagal inquiries with their own
ivplications for defamation law.”). ) . )

Snyder v. Phelps, 562 U.S. 443, 131 S.CL. 1207, 1216 (2011) (citations omitted).

See-Tex, Penal Code Ann. § 42,09 (making crueity to livestock animals an offense), § 42.092 (West 201 1) (making crueity
o domesticated tiving creaturss an offensa). :

Sea Hepps, 475 U.S. at 777, 779, 106 $. Ct at 1564. 1565 n.4. {stating that “placement by state iaw of the burden of
proving truth upor media defendsnts whao publish speech of public concem deters such spaach” and that the Court was
not considering “what standards would agply If the plaintiff sues a nonmedia defendant” (emphasis added)); Randajl's
Food Mids., 831 S.W.2d at 645,

The Cambodia Wiidlife Sanctuary's brief states that “actual documents and photographs” proved that Lollar committed
animal crueity. We commend the Sanctuary for its advocacy for the protection of animals, but if such documents or
photographs exist, they were not included in the appellate record.

See Rehak Creative Seivs., 404 S.W.3d at 732 {stating that linked documents were part of the context that had to bs
considerad in addressing what a website conveyed about the plaintiff).

See Hurtbut v. Gulf All. Life Ins. Co., 749 S.W.2d 762, 768 {Tex.1987) {stating that not all communications to public
officiais are privileged).
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ld. (discussing d'efagxatim privileges and stating that the conditional privilege that applies to stetements made in thq
public-interest is defeatad when the privilege is abused).

Sowe Tex.R.App. P. 38.1(i).

Kaufman v. [slamjc Soc. of Artington, 291 S.W.3d 130, 144 (Tex.App.—Fort Worth 2009, pst, denied) {* ‘in order to entitie
one t maintain aa actioh for an alleged defamatory statemant, it must appear that he i3 the parson with refefence to
whom the statement was made.’ °) (quoting Newspapers, Inc. v. Malthews, 338 S,W.2d 880, 893 (1980)).

Seoe Tex. Penal Code Ann. § 42.092 {making it an offonse for a persan to intentionally, knawingly. or reciiassly fall
unraasonably to provide necessary care for a domesticated animal in the person’s care).

Swa Hancock, 400 S.W.3d at 6667 (citing the Restatement (Sacond) of Torts to “more fully defing” a-statement ‘that
injures one in her profession’),

See Hoichkin, 2014 WL 7204496, at *6 (observing that we generally may not consider matters outside the: appellate
record).

See Tex.R.App. P. 38.1(i) (requiring citalions to relevant authority for the arguments made in an appellant's brief).

Tex. Penal Code Ann. § 42.092(b)(3).

Sea Bentiey, 94 S.W.3d at 587 (stating that the preponderance of the svidence standard applies to reviewing, proof of
falsity in a defamation case).

See Hancock, 400 S W.3d at 64, 66-67.

See Tax.R.App. P. 38.1(i).

Ssg id.

See McGalliard v. Kuhimann, 722 S.\.2d 694, 897 (Tox.19886) (stating that when faced with conflicting evidence, the
tactfinder can belleve one. witnese and disbelieve others).

Cummins did notclarify whether she meant the City of Minaral Wells's health department, the Texas Departmant of State
Healin Services, or same other government entity.

See Harncock, 400 S.W.3d at 68-67,

Ses Tex.R. Civ. P, 80, 91,

See Tex.RApp. P. 33.1.

Sae Tex.R.App. P. 44.1(a).

Ses Brittor: v, Tex. Dep't of Criminal Justice, 95 S.W.3d 676, 681 (Tex App.—Houston {fst Dtst 12002, no pet.) {stating
that *[plenerally speaking, an appellsnt must attack all independent bases or grounds that fully support & complained-
of ruling or judgment”®); see also Tex.R. Civ. P, 38.1(1).

See Text.R.App. P. 33.1(d).

Tex. Giv. Prac. & Rem.Code Ann. §§ 41.002(b), 41.003(a) (West 2015).

14.§41.001(7).

Hancock, 400 $.W.3d at 66.-After this case was tried, the legisiature enacted a statute providing that a defamation plaintitf
may nat recover exemplary damages without first serving 8 request for @ correction, clarification, or retraction. See Tex.
Civ. Prac. & Rem. Code Ann. § 73.055(c) (West Supp. 2014).

Tex. Civ. Prac, &Rem Coda Arn.-§ 41.001(2); Tex. Fam. Code Ann. § 101.007 {West 2014); U-Haul Int', !nc v. Waldrip;
380 S.W.3d 118, 137 (Tex. 2012), State v. KE. W, 315S.W.3d 16, 20 (Tex. 201J).

inre G.M., 596 S.W.2d 846, 847 {Tex. 1980} State v. Addington, 588 S.W.2d 569, 570 (Tex. 1879).

Addinglon, 588 S.W.2d at 570.

K.EW., 315 S.W.3d at 20; Columbia Med. Ctr. of Las Colinas, Inc. v. Hogue, 27t S.W.3d 238, 248 (Tex.2008), oarl

danied, 290 S.W.3d 873 (2009).

Tex. Civ. Prac. & Rem.Code Ann. § 41.011(a) (West 2015).

Id. §41.013 (West 2015),

Sae New Yerk Times, 376 U.S. at 285, 84 S.Ct. at 729 (considering the proof presentsd of ectual malice and stating that
the coust “must ‘make an independent examination of the whole record,’ so as to assure ourseives that the judgmient
does hot constitute a forbidden intrusion on the field of free expression”) (citations omitted), see also New Times, Inc.,
148 S.w.3d at 165 (*a persanal vendetta demonstrated. by a history of false aliegations may provide some evidence of
malice, tree-fioating ill will does not”).

Seo Bontley, 94 S.W.3d at 597-99

See Tex. Civ. Prac. & Rem.Code Ann. § 41.001(7).

See Tex. R, App. P..38.1¢).
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See Flores v, Milflsnnium Interests, Ld., 185 S.W.3d 427, 435 {Tex.2005) (stating that proportionality requirements for
exemplary damage awards are based on the constitution); /o re D.T.M., 932 5.W.2d 647. 652 (Tex.App.—Fort Worth
1996. no writ) (*Even constitutional arguments are waived at the appellate level if issues were not befora the trial court.”).
See Tex. Civ. Prac. & Rem.Code Ann, § 41.008(b) (West 2018). '

Sre Davis v. White, No. 062-13-00191-CV, 2014 WL 7387045, at *10 (Tex.App.—Fort Worth Dec. 29, 2014; no pe‘t.,h.).
{mam, op.} (holding that the statutory cap on examplary damages is an affirmative defense that must be pled and proved

attral). '

See Norra v. Harris Cnly., Neo. 14-05-01211-CV, 2008 WL 564061, at*2-3 {Tex.App ~Houston [ 14th Dist) Mar, 4, 2008,
no pet.) {mem. op.) (holding that a complaint on appeal from a bench trial that raises a new legal basis or theary for
challenging a damages award that is not a compiaint about the sufficiency of the evidence must be raised in the trial
court to praserve the complaint for appeal).

See Tex.R.App. P. 38.1().

See:Kinnay, 443 S.W.3d at 93-94.

See id.

8uf see Tex. Consl. art. 1, § 8 (stating that “{ejvery parson shall be at iiberty to spaak, write or publish his opifiions on
any subject, being responsible for the abuse of that privilege ° (emphasis added)).

Cily of The Colany v. N. Tex. Mun. Water Dist., 272 S.W.3d 699, 739 (Tex.App.—Fort Worth 2008, pet. disrm’d).

Sae Verfiogy v. Progressive.Cnty. Mut. ins. Ca., 300 S.W.3d 803, 816 {Tex.App.—Fort Worth 2008, no pat.) (stating that
the plain language of a contiact must be given effect when the parties' intent can be discemead from that language).
See Tex R.App. P. 38.1(i); Gray v. Nagh, 259 S.W.3d 286. 264 {Tex.App.—Forn Worth 2008, pet. denied) (determining
that issuss were walved because of inadequate briefing).

Tex. Civ, Prac. & Rem Code Ann. § 38.001 (West 2015).

See MBM Fin. Corp., 292 S.W.3d at 666 {halding that because the cour rendered a take-nothing judgment on the
plaintiff's breach of contract claim, the party could not recover attornsy's fees based on a breach of contract ¢laim under
civil practice and remedies code chapter 38).

Eng of Document @ 2018 Thomson Réuters. No slgim to ariginal 1.5, Govemment Waorks.
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History (3)

Direct History (2) .

.y, Sanctuary v. Cummins
2012 WL 4050469 , Tex.Dist. , Aug. 27, 2012

Juogment Afflrmed.in Part, Reversed in Part by

2 Cummins v. Bat World Sanctuary A
2015 WL 1641144, Tex.App.-Fort Worth , Apr. 09, 2015, rehearing overruled ( Apr 30, 2015 ), review daniad
~ (Aup 28, 2015)

Related References (1)
3.- Bat Wortd Sanctuary v. Cummins
2612 WL 12248592 |, Tex.Dist. , May 14, 2012




EXHIBIT6



SN VSR o

\O o] | (o R}

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

g

LAW OFFICES OF K. KENNETH KOTLER
K. KENNETH KOTLER, SBN 80281
1901 Avenue of the Stars, Suite 1100

Los Angeles, California 90067
Telephone: (310) 201-0096
Facsimile: (310) 494-0064
kotler@kenkotler.com
Attorneys for Assignee, Konstantin Khionidi, Trustee for the Cobbs
Trust
SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA
FOR THE COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES
BAT WORLD, et al,, CASE NO. BS 140207
Plaintiffs,
ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF
V. ' ASSIGNMENT OF JUDGMENT
MARY CUMMINS, et al., Assigned to Judge Robert L. Hess
: Dept. 24 .
Defendants.

1. Plaintiff and Judgment Creditor, Amanda Lollar, an individual (“Assignor™),
hereby acknowledges the assignment, transfer and conveyance of Assignor’s rights to enforce,

prosecute, forbear or otherwise deal with the Judgment as identified in Section 5 below, in

favor of Assignor and against Defendant and Judgment Debtor, Mary Cummins, to Assignee,
Kanstantin Khionidi, Trustee for the Cobbs Trust.

2. Judgment Creditor - Amanda Lollar
299'High Point Road
" Weatherford, Texas 76088
3. Judgment Debtor: Mary Cummins

Last known address: 645 W. 9 Street, #110

Los Angeles, CA 90015
7
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4, Assignee: Konstantin Khionidi, Trustee for the Cobbs Trust
c/o Law Offices of K. Kenneth Kotler
1901 Avenue of the Stars, Suite 1100
Los Angeles, CA 90067.

5. Judgment was entered on November 9, 2012 in the Superior Court of the State
of California, County of Los Angeles, CA, Central District (Case No. BS 140207). Judgment
was entered in the records of the Court where such records are required to be maintained. A
true and cotrect copy of said Judgment being assigned herein is attached hereto as Exhibit A
and by this reference incorporated herein.

6. There have been no renewals since entry of the Judgments by this Court.

Amanda Lollar, Judgment Creditor and Assignor

Dated: April 72017

NOTARY SEPARATELY ATTACHED
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CERTIFICATE OF ACKNOWLEDGMENT
i

The State of Texas

\
canyo 1D (IOAD

Before me, { (insert the name and character of the

officer), . ‘
on é\is day personally appeared H'm(md& 10‘ ' al/ , known to me {(or
proved to me on the oath of OY \dLY ( 4‘/\ @ﬂ\( or through’ H‘ “ ﬂlzg] M lf\g

(description of identity card or-other document) to be the person whose name is subscribed to

the foregoing instrument and acknowledged to me that he/she executed the same for the purposes

and consideration therein expressed.

. (Seal)

Given under my hand and seal of office this ,/’ day of Hbf I’ 20 /77

#¥iB UNDSEY STOVAL e
;* MY COMMISSION EXPIRES f

. (Notary's Signature)
' Notary Public, State of Texas

—“?ff}g}:"}:\.gs Oclober 4, 2018

Page 1 of )




11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25
[Iok)
%26
frras
i
~ 27

.
v ¥

=28

PROOF OF SERVICE

STATE OF CALIFORNIA; COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES) ss.

I am over the age of 18 and a citizen of the United States. My business address and
telephone number are Trial Advocacy Group, LLC, 1901 Avenue of the Stars, Suite 1100, Los
Angeles, California 90067, telephone (818) 970-8779.

On September 14, 2017, I caused the accompanying Judgment Creditor’s Objections to and
Motion to Strike Judgment Debtor’s Purported “Motion to Quash, Modify Subpoena, Protective
Order CCP 1987.1, Motion for Sanctions, Motion to" Vacate Judgment” to be served on:

Mary Cummins
645 West 9™ Street, Suite 110-140
Los Angeles, California 90015

Christian S. Molinar
12400 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 1180
Los Angeles, California 90025

[ ] BY FACSIMILE as follows: By causing true and correct copies of the foregoing
documents to be transmitted via facsimile to the above party at the foregoing fax number.

[ ] BY FEDERAL EXPRESS/PRIORITY OVERNIGHT: By causing the foregoing
documents to be sent via FEDEX for next-day delivery to the foregoing address.

EZG BY U.S. MAIL as follows: By causing the foregoing documents (1) to be placed in sealed
velopes with proper postage thereon and (2) deposited in a mail depository maintained by the
United States Postal Service on the date indicated above.

[ % BY PERSONAL SERVICE: By causing the foregoing documents to be personally
sexfed

[ 1 BYELECTRONIC SERVICE: By causing the foregoing to be electronically served.

I declare under penalty of perilury under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing
is true and correct. Executed this 14™ day of Septe os Angeles County, California, by:

A Y

John H. Feiner °




